MCDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL INC Form DEF 14A April 04, 2003

OMB APPROVAL

OMB Number: Expires: Estimated average	3235-0059 August 31, 2004
burden	
hours per response	14.73

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant x Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o

Check the appropriate box:

o Preliminary Proxy Statement

o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))

x Definitive Proxy Statement

o Definitive Additional Materials

o Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

McDermott International, Inc.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

x No fee required.

o Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.

1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:

2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:

3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):

4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

5) Total fee paid:

o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

o Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.

1) Amount Previously Paid:

2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:

3) Filing Party:

 4) Date Filed:

 SEC 1913 (02-02)

 Persons who potentially are to respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays a currently valid OMB control number.

McDermott International, Inc.

Bruce W. Wilkinson Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 1450 Poydras Street P.O. Box 61961 New Orleans, Louisiana 70161-1961

April 4, 2003

Dear Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend this year s annual meeting of stockholders of McDermott International, Inc., which will be held on Wednesday, May 7, 2003, in the Pelican I Room of the Hotel Inter-Continental, 444 St. Charles Avenue, New Orleans, Louisiana, commencing at 9:30 a.m. local time. The notice of annual meeting and proxy statement following this letter describe the matters to be acted on at the meeting.

If your shares are held of record with EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., our transfer agent and registrar, we have enclosed a proxy card for your use. You may vote these shares by completing and returning the proxy card or alternatively, calling a toll-free telephone number or using the Internet as described on the proxy card. If your shares are held by a broker or other nominee (*i.e.*, in street name), they have enclosed a voting instruction form, which you should use to vote those shares. Whether you have the option to vote those shares by telephone or via the Internet is indicated on the voting instruction form.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please take a few minutes now to vote your shares. If you attend the meeting, you may change your vote at that time.

Thank you for your interest in our company.

Sincerely yours,

BRUCE W. WILKINSON

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.

1450 Poydras Street P.O. Box 61961 New Orleans, Louisiana 70161-1961

Notice of 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

The 2003 Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of McDermott International, Inc., a Panama corporation, will be held in the Pelican I Room of the Hotel Inter-Continental at 444 St. Charles Avenue, New Orleans, Louisiana, on Wednesday, May 7, 2003, at 9:30 a.m. local time, for the following purposes:

1. To elect four Directors;

2. To approve the retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent accountants for fiscal year 2003; and

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

If you were a stockholder as of the close of business on March 28, 2003, you are entitled to vote at the meeting and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate your vote as to the matters to be acted on at the meeting by following the instructions provided in the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form, whether or not you plan on attending the meeting. If you attend the meeting, you may change your vote at that time.

We have enclosed a copy of our 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders with this notice and proxy statement.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

JOHN T. NESSER, III Secretary

Dated: April 4, 2003

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROXY STATEMENT FOR 2003 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS **TABLE OF CONTENTS** GENERAL INFORMATION **VOTING INFORMATION** Record Date and Who May Vote How to Vote How to Change Your Vote Ouorum Proposals to Be Voted on; Vote Required and How Votes Are Counted **Confidential Voting** ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (ITEM 1) Board of Directors and Its Committees Directors Attendance and Compensation **EXECUTIVE OFFICERS** SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT PERFORMANCE GRAPH COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS Summary Compensation Table Option Exercises and Year-End Value Table Change in Control Arrangements Separation Agreements **Retirement Plans** AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT APPROVAL OF RETENTION OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2003 $(ITEM_2)$ CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE STOCKHOLDERS PROPOSALS APPENDIX A - AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS CHARTER

PROXY STATEMENT FOR 2003 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

General Information	1					
Voting Information	1					
Record Date and Who May Vote	1					
How to Vote						
How to Change Your Vote						
Quorum	2 2					
Proposals to Be Voted on; Vote Required and How Votes Are Counted	2 3					
Confidential Voting	3					
Election of Directors (Item 1)	4					
Board of Directors and Its Committees	6					
Directors Attendance and Compensation	7					
Executive Officers	9					
Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers	11					
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners						
Compensation Committee Report						
Performance Graph						
Compensation of Executive Officers	19					
Summary Compensation Table	19					
Option Grant Table	21					
Option Exercises and Year-End Value Table	22					
Change in Control Arrangements	22					
Separation Agreements	22					
Retirement Plans	23					
Audit Committee Report	25					
Approval of Retention of Independent Accountants for Fiscal Year 2003						
(Item 2)	26					
Certain Transactions						
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance						
Stockholders Proposals	27					
Appendix A Audit Committee of the Board of Directors Charter	A-1					

GENERAL INFORMATION

We are mailing this proxy statement and accompanying proxy card to our stockholders beginning on April 4, 2003. Our Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy to vote your shares at our Annual Meeting to be held on May 7, 2003. We will bear all expenses incurred in connection with this proxy solicitation, which we expect to conduct primarily by mail. We have engaged The Proxy Advisory Group of Strategic Stock Surveillance, LLC to assist in the solicitation for a fee that will not exceed \$7,500, plus out-of-pocket expenses. In addition to solicitation by mail and by The Proxy Advisory Group of Strategic Stock Surveillance, LLC, our officers and regular employees may solicit your proxy by telephone, by facsimile transmission or in person, for which they will not be separately compensated. If your shares are held through a broker or other nominee (*i.e.*, in street name), we have requested that your broker or nominee forward this proxy statement to you and obtain your voting instructions, for which we will reimburse them for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. If your shares are held through The Thrift Plan for Employees of McDermott Incorporated and Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies (the McDermott Thrift Plan) or The Thrift Plan for Salaried Employees of Babcock & Wilcox Canada, the trustees of those plans have sent you this proxy statement and a voting instruction form, which you can use to direct the trustees on how to vote your plan shares.

VOTING INFORMATION

Record Date and Who May Vote

Our Board of Directors selected March 28, 2003 as the record date (the Record Date) for determining stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. This means that if you were a registered stockholder with our transfer agent and registrar, EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., on the Record Date, you may vote your shares on the matters to be considered by our stockholders at the Annual Meeting. If your shares were held in street name on that date, the broker or other nominee that was the record holder of your shares has the authority to vote them at the Annual Meeting. They have forwarded to you this proxy statement seeking your instructions on how you want your shares voted.

On the Record Date, 65,090,509 shares of our common stock were outstanding. Each outstanding share of common stock entitles its holder to one vote on each matter to be acted on at the meeting.

How to Vote

You can vote your shares in person at the Annual Meeting or vote now by giving us your proxy. By giving us your proxy, you will be directing us on how to vote your shares at the meeting. Even if you plan on attending the meeting, we urge you to vote now by giving us your proxy. This will ensure that your vote is represented at the meeting. If you do attend the meeting, you can change your vote at that time. If your shares are held in street name, the broker or nominee that holds your shares has the authority to vote them and has enclosed a voting instruction form with this proxy statement. They will vote your shares as you direct on their voting instruction form. You can vote by completing the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form and returning it in the enclosed U.S. postage prepaid envelope. If your shares are held in street name and you want to vote your shares in person at the Annual Meeting, you must obtain a valid proxy from your broker or nominee.

If your shares are held of record, you also will be able to give us your proxy by calling a toll-free telephone number or using the Internet 24 hours a day, seven days a week. If your shares are held in street name, the availability of telephone or Internet voting depends on the voting process used by the broker or nominee that holds your shares. In either case, you should refer to the instructions provided in the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form. Telephone and Internet voting procedures have been designed to verify your identity through a personal identification or control number and to confirm that your voting instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote using either of these electronic means, you will save us return mail expense.

You may receive more than one proxy statement and proxy card or voting instruction form if your shares are held through more than one account (*e.g.*, through different brokers or nominees). Each proxy card or voting

Table of Contents

instruction form only covers those shares of common stock held in the applicable account. If you hold shares in more than one account, you will have to provide voting instructions as to all your accounts to vote all your shares.

How to Change Your Vote

You may change your proxy voting instructions at any time prior to the stockholder vote at the Annual Meeting. For shares held of record, you may change your vote by written notice to our Corporate Secretary, granting a new proxy or by voting in person at the Annual Meeting. Unless you attend the meeting and vote your shares in person, you should change your vote using the same method (by telephone, Internet or mail) that you first used to vote your shares. That way, the inspectors of election for the meeting will be able to verify your latest vote.

For shares held in street name, you should follow the instructions in the voting instruction form provided by your broker or nominee to change your vote. If you want to change your vote as to shares held in street name by voting in person at the Annual Meeting, you must obtain a valid proxy from the broker or nominee that holds such shares for you.

Quorum

The Annual Meeting will be held only if a quorum exists. The presence at the meeting, in person or by proxy, of holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock as of the Record Date will constitute a quorum. If you attend the meeting or vote your shares using the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction form (including any telephone or Internet voting procedures provided), your shares will be counted toward a quorum, even if you abstain from voting as to a particular matter. Broker non-votes (*i.e.*, shares held by brokers and other nominees as to which they have not received voting instructions from the beneficial owners and lack the discretionary authority to vote on a particular matter) also will count for quorum purposes.

Proposals to Be Voted on; Vote Required and How Votes Are Counted

We are asking you to vote on the following:

the election of Philip J. Burguieres, Ronald C. Cambre, Bruce DeMars and Bruce W. Wilkinson to Class I of our Board of Directors; and

to retain PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent accountants for fiscal year 2003.

Each proposal, including the election of directors, requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the matter. In the election of directors, you may vote FOR all director nominees or withhold your vote for any one or more of the director nominees. For the proposal to retain PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as our independent accountants for fiscal year 2003, you may vote FOR or AGAINST or abstain from voting. Because abstentions are counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present but are not affirmative votes for a proposal, they have the same effect as an AGAINST vote. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the vote on any of the proposals.

If you submit a signed proxy card without specifying your vote, your shares will be voted FOR the election of all director nominees and the retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers as our independent accountants for fiscal year 2003. If you hold your shares in street name and you do not instruct your broker or nominee how to vote those shares, they may vote your shares as they decide as to matters for which they have discretionary authority under New York Stock Exchange rules. Shares held by a broker or other nominee as to which they have not received voting instructions from the beneficial owners and lack the discretionary authority to vote on a particular matter are called broker non-votes. While broker non-votes will be counted toward a quorum, they are not entitled to vote on, or considered present for purposes of, any matters for which the broker or nominee lacks the authority to vote. Therefore, they will have no effect on the vote on any such matter.

We are not aware of any other matters that may be presented or acted on at the meeting. If you vote by signing and returning the enclosed proxy card or using its telephone or Internet voting procedures, the individuals

Table of Contents

named as proxies on the card may vote your shares, in their discretion, on any other matter requiring a stockholder vote that comes before the meeting.

Confidential Voting

All voted proxies and ballots will be handled to protect your voting privacy as a stockholder. Your vote will not be disclosed except:

to meet any legal requirements;

in limited circumstances such as a proxy contest in opposition to our Board of Directors;

to permit independent inspectors of election to tabulate and certify your vote; or

to adequately respond to your written comments on your proxy card.

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

(ITEM 1)

Earlier this year our Board of Directors fixed the number of directors constituting the entire board at eight directors. Our Articles provide that if the number of directors is reduced to seven or eight, Class III shall be eliminated and the directors distributed between Classes I and II. Accordingly, our Board of Directors has been reclassified from three classes to two classes. The term of office for our Class III directors was scheduled to expire at our 2003 Annual Meeting. In connection with the reclassification, we have determined to hold the election of our Class I directors at our 2003 Annual Meeting. The term of office for our Class I directors was previously scheduled to expire at our 2004 Annual Meeting. We will hold the election of our Class II directors at our 2004 Annual Meeting. The term of office for our Class II directors was previously scheduled to expire at our 2005 Annual Meeting.

As part of the reclassification of directors, Bruce W. Wilkinson, who was appointed as a Class III Director in August 2000, was re-designated by the Board of Directors as a Class I Director, and Robert L. Howard, who was elected as a Class III Director at our 2000 Annual Meeting, was re-designated by the Board of Directors as a Class II Director. Messrs. Wilkinson and Howard were re-designated by the Board to establish an equal number of directors in each of the two classes of the Board of Directors.

Each class will continue to be as nearly equal in number as possible. The term of office for each class will expire on the date of the second annual stockholders meeting for the election of directors following the most recent election of directors for that class. Our amended and restated By-Laws also provide that (1) a person shall not be nominated for election or re-election to our Board of Directors if such person shall have attained the age of 70 prior to the date of election or re-election and (2) any director elected or re-elected at or after that Annual Meeting who attains the age of 70 during his or her term shall be deemed to have resigned and retired at the first Annual Meeting following his or her attainment of the age of 70, unless the application of this mandatory retirement provision is waived by the full Board of Directors, provided that any such waiver may only extend for one year. Although John W. Johnstone, Jr. has reached the mandatory retirement age of 70 for directors under our By-Laws, our Board of Directors waived the application of the mandatory retirement provision for a one-year period, allowing Mr. Johnstone to continue serving as a director until our Annual Meeting in 2004.

Currently, our Class I Directors are Philip J. Burguieres, Ronald C. Cambre, Bruce DeMars and Bruce W. Wilkinson. On the nomination of our Board of Directors, Messrs. Burguieres, Cambre, DeMars and Wilkinson will stand for re-election as Class I Directors at this year s Annual Meeting.

Unless otherwise directed, the persons named as proxies in the enclosed proxy card intend to vote FOR the election of the nominees. If any nominee should become unavailable for election, the shares will be voted for such substitute nominee as may be proposed by our Board of Directors. However, we are not aware of any circumstances that would prevent any of the nominees from serving. Set forth below under Class II Directors are the names of our other directors. All directors have been previously elected by the stockholders or are standing for election as directors at this year s Annual Meeting.

Set forth below is certain information (ages are as of May 7, 2003) with respect to each nominee for election as a director and each director of our company.

Name and Principal Occupation	Age	Director Since
Class I Nominees		
Philip J. Burguieres	59	1990
Mr. Burguieres is Chief Executive Officer of EMC Holdings, LLC, and V Chairman of the Houston Texans, a National Football League franchise. F serves as Chairman Emeritus and as a director of Weatherford Internation diversified international energy services and manufacturing company) and served that company as its Chairman of the Board from December 1992 to 1998 and as its President and Chief Executive Officer from April 1991 to 1996. He is also a director of J. P. Morgan Chase Bank (formerly Chase B Fexas, N.A., a national banking organization) and Newfield Exploration O	Ie also al, Inc. (a l formerly o May October eank of	
Ronald C. Cambre	64	2000
Until December 2001, Mr. Cambre was Chairman of the Board of Newmo Mining Corporation (an international mining company) from January 199 served as its Chief Executive Officer from November 1993 until his retire December 2000. He was also President of Newmont Mining Corporation 1 1994 to July 1999. Mr. Cambre is also a director of Cleveland-Cliffs Inc., W. R. Grace & Co. and Inco Limited.	5, and ment in	
Bruce DeMars	67	1997
Admiral DeMars has been a Partner in RSD, LLC, a firm that introduces r products and services to industry and government, since August 2001. Pre- he was a Partner in the Trident Merchant Group and also Chief Executive of the Non-Proliferation Trust, Inc. from February 1998 to June 2001. Fro- until his retirement from the Navy in October 1996, Admiral DeMars was Naval Nuclear Propulsion, a joint Department of the Navy/ Department of program responsible for the design, construction, maintenance, operation disposal of reactor plants for the United States Navy. He is also a director Exelon Corporation.	viously, Officer m 1988 Director, f Energy and final	
Bruce W. Wilkinson	58	2000
Mr. Wilkinson has been Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offic McDermott since August 2000. Mr. Wilkinson also served as President ar Operating Officer of McDermott from April 2000 to August 2002 and Pre and Chief Operating Officer of our subsidiary J. Ray McDermott, S.A. fro 2002 to February 2003. Previously, he was: Principal of Pinnacle Equity F L.L.C. (a private equity group) from May 1999 to April 2000; Chairman a Executive Officer of Chemical Logistics Corporation (a company formed consolidate chemical distribution companies) from April 1998 to April 19 President and Chief Executive Officer of Tyler Corporation (a diversified manufacturing and service company) from April 1997 to October 1997; Ir President and Chief Executive Officer of Proler International, Inc. (a ferror recycling company) from July 1996 to December 1996; Chairman and Chi Executive Officer of CRSS, Inc. (a global engineering and construction se company) from October 1989 to March 1996; and President and Chief Ex Officer of CRSS, Inc. from 1982 to 1989. He is also a director of Cooper 6 Corporation.	nd Chief sident om July Partners, and Chief to 99; hterim ous metals ief ervices ecutive	

Name and Principal Occupation	Age	Director Since
Class II Directors		
Joe B. Foster	68	1999
Mr. Foster has been Nonexecutive Chairman of the Board of Newfield Exp Company (an oil and gas exploration company) since 1989. He served as C Executive Officer of Newfield Exploration Company from January 1989 to 2000. From January 2000 to August 2000, he served as Interim Chairman of Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Baker Hughes Incorporate oilfield services company). He was also Executive Vice President of Tenne from 1981 to 1988 and a director of Tenneco Inc. from 1983 to 1988. Mr. I a past Chairman of the National Petroleum Council and has been a member Offshore Committee of the Independent Petroleum Association of America Mr. Foster is also a director of New Jersey Resources Corporation.	Chief January of the ed (an eco Inc. Foster is r of the	
Robert L. Howard	66	1997
Until his retirement in March 1995, Mr. Howard was Vice President Dome Operations, Exploration and Production of Shell Oil Company, and Preside Shell Western Exploration and Production Inc. from 1992, and President of Offshore, Inc. from 1985. He is also a director of Southwestern Energy Con and Ocean Energy, Inc.	ent of f Shell	
John W. Johnstone, Jr.	70	1995
Until his retirement in May 1996, Mr. Johnstone was Chairman of the Boar 1988 and Chief Executive Officer from 1987 of Olin Corporation (a manuf and supplier of chemicals, metals, defense-related products and services, an ammunition). He is also a director of Fortune Brands, Inc., The Phoenix Companies, Inc. and Arch Chemicals, Inc.	acturer	
Richard E. Woolbert	69	1996
Until his retirement in January 1999, Mr. Woolbert was Executive Vice Pro and Chief Administrative Officer of McDermott from February 1995. Prev he was Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of McDerm August 1991.	iously,	

Board of Directors and Its Committees

Our Board of Directors maintains the following committees:

Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee currently consists of Messrs. Foster (Chairman), Cambre, DeMars and Johnstone, all of whom meet the independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange. During fiscal year 2002, the Audit Committee met seven times. The Audit Committee s role is financial oversight. Our management is responsible for preparing financial statements, and our independent auditors are responsible for auditing those financial statements. The Audit Committee is not providing any expert or special assurance as to our financial statements or any professional certification as to the independent auditor s work. The following functions are the key responsibilities of the Audit Committee in carrying out its oversight:

recommending the appointment of our independent auditors to the Board of Directors;

reviewing the scope of the independent auditors examination and the scope of activities of our internal audit department;

reviewing our financial policies and accounting systems and controls and our audited financial statements and interim financial statements;

Table of Contents

preparing a report for inclusion in our proxy statement regarding its review of our audited financial statements for the last fiscal year, which report includes a statement on whether it recommended that the Board include those financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for such fiscal year;

approving and ratifying the duties and compensation of our independent auditors, both for audit and non-audit services; and

reviewing and assessing, on an annual basis, the adequacy of the Audit Committee s charter and recommending revisions to the Board.

The committee also reviews our compliance with its guidelines and policies relative to business conduct and ethics. The committee meets separately with the independent auditors and with members of the internal audit staff, outside the presence of management or other employees of ours, to discuss matters of concern, to receive recommendations or suggestions for change and to exchange relevant views and information. The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors are ultimately responsible for the selection, evaluation and replacement of the independent auditors.

Our Board has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee. A copy of the Charter, which was amended and restated earlier this year, is attached as an appendix to this proxy statement.

Nominating & Governance Committee. Our Nominating & Governance Committee currently consists of Messrs. Burguieres (Chairman), Foster, Howard and Woolbert. During fiscal year 2002, the Nominating & Governance Committee met two times. This committee recommends to our Board of Directors (1) for approval and adoption, the qualifications, term limits and nomination and election procedures relating to our directors, and (2) nominees for election to our Board of Directors. This committee will consider individuals recommended by stockholders for nomination as directors in accordance with the procedures described under Stockholders Proposals.

Compensation Committee. Our Compensation Committee currently consists of Messrs. Howard (Chairman), Cambre, DeMars and Johnstone. During fiscal year 2002, the Compensation Committee met five times. The Compensation Committee (1) determines the salaries of all our officers elected to their positions by our Board of Directors, and reviews and makes recommendations regarding the salaries of officers of our subsidiaries, (2) administers and makes awards under our stock, incentive compensation and supplemental compensation plans and programs, and (3) monitors and makes recommendations relating to our and our subsidiaries various employee benefit plans, such as retirement and pension plans, thrift plans, health and medical plans, and life, accident and disability insurance plans.

Directors Attendance and Compensation

Directors Attendance and Fees; Insurance. During fiscal year 2002, our Board of Directors held ten meetings. Each incumbent director attended 75% or more of the aggregate number of meetings of the Board and of the committees on which he served. Employee directors are not paid for their services as directors or as members of any committee of the Board. All other directors are compensated as follows:

an annual stipend of \$28,000;

a fee of \$2,500 for each Board meeting personally attended and a fee of \$1,000 for each Board meeting in which such director participates by telephone;

the chairman of each Board committee receives an annual fee of \$3,000;

each other member of a Board committee receives an annual fee of \$2,500; and

each committee member also receives a fee of \$1,650 for each committee meeting personally attended and a fee of \$1,000 for each committee meeting in which such director participates by telephone.

We also provide travel accident insurance and health care benefits to nonemployee directors under the same terms and conditions applicable to our employees.

Table of Contents

Directors Stock Plans. In addition to the fees and benefits provided to our directors described above, we currently have a directors stock plan under which we have granted stock options and issued restricted stock to our nonemployee directors. A maximum of 100,000 shares of our common stock may be issued under the 1997 Director Stock Program, which we adopted and our stockholders approved in 1997. Under this directors stock plan:

each nonemployee director is granted options to purchase 900 shares of our common stock on the first day of the first year of such director s term and 300 shares on the first day of any subsequent year of such term;

the options are granted at the fair market value of our common stock (average of high and low trading price) on the date of grant, become fully exercisable six months after the date of grant, and remain exercisable for ten years after the date of grant;

each nonemployee director is also granted rights to purchase 450 restricted shares of our common stock on the first day of the first year of such director s term and 150 restricted shares on the first day of any subsequent year of such term at \$1.00 per share;

the shares of restricted stock are subject to transfer restrictions and forfeiture provisions, which generally lapse at the end of a director s term;

if a change in control of our company occurs, all transfer restrictions and forfeiture provisions on the shares of restricted stock will lapse and all outstanding stock options will become immediately exercisable; and

we granted 4,200 options to acquire common stock and 1,950 shares of restricted stock during fiscal year 2002.

In addition, a maximum of 3,000,000 shares of our common stock may be issued to executives, key employees, nonemployee directors and consultants under our 2001 Directors and Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 2001 LTIP), which we adopted and our stockholders approved in 2002. Under this plan:

options, restricted stock, performance units and deferred stock units may be granted, from time to time, to directors in such number, and on such terms, as the Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors may determine;

any options granted must have an exercise price that is not less than the fair market value of our common stock (average of high and low trading prices) on the date of grant;

the Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors determines when the options become exercisable and the duration of the options, provided that no option may be exercisable later than the tenth anniversary of the date of grant;

any shares of restricted stock, performance units and deferred stock units granted are subject to such vesting restrictions, transfer restrictions and forfeiture provisions as the Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors establishes;

the Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors determines the treatment of awards in the event of a change in control of our company on an individual award basis; and

we granted 500 shares of restricted stock to each nonemployee director during fiscal year 2002.

Grant of Deferred Stock Units to Ronald C. Cambre. On January 31, 2002, we made a one-time grant of 5,000 deferred stock units (DSUs) to Ronald C. Cambre. That grant was identical to DSU grants we made to our other directors in fiscal year 2000. Under the terms of the DSU grant, each DSU represents the right to receive one share of our common stock upon vesting, which is the earlier of the third anniversary of the grant date (if Mr. Cambre is still serving as a member of the Board) or the termination of his service as a Board member due to death, total and permanent disability, or approved retirement; provided that the receipt of shares underlying the DSU grant may be deferred by him for tax reasons. DSUs do not carry voting or cash dividend rights until vested and the underlying shares of common stock are issued; provided that they will accrue dividend equivalents in the form of additional DSUs if and when dividends are declared and paid on our common stock.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Set forth below is the age (as of May 7, 2003), the principal positions held with McDermott or certain subsidiaries, and certain other business experience information for each of our executive officers who is not a director of McDermott.

Louis W. Burkart, 53, Vice President, Internal Audit of the Company since August 2002. Previously, he was: Director, Internal Audit from April 2002 to August 2002; Director, Environmental Safety, Health & Risk Management from May 1999 to April 2002; and Director, Corporate Insurance and Risk Management from June 1994 to May 1999.

Robert A. Deason, 57, President and Chief Operating Officer of our subsidiary J. Ray McDermott, S.A. since March 2003. Previously, he was: Vice President, Operations for Fluor Corporation from March 1999 to January 2003; and Vice President, Project Management Production, Pipelines & Marine Services for Fluor Corporation from June 1997 to March 1999.

James R. Easter, 46, Vice President, Finance and Treasurer of the Company since September 2002. Previously, he was: Assistant Treasurer of McDermott from May 2002 to September 2002; Vice President in the Retail Energy Solutions Group of Reliant Resources, Inc. from December 2000 to May 2002; associated with Industrial Growth Partners LP, a private equity fund, from January 2000 to December 2000; Vice President, Finance Origination of the Asia Pacific Group of Enron International, Inc., a subsidiary of Enron Corp., from June 1999 to January 2000; and a Director in the Risk Control Group of Enron Corp. from January 1996 to June 1999.

John A. Fees, 45, President and Chief Operating Officer of our subsidiary BWX Technologies, Inc. since September 2002. Previously, he was President and General Manager of BWXT Services, Inc., a subsidiary of BWX Technologies, from September 1997 to November 2002.

Thomas A. Henzler, 49, Vice President and Corporate Controller of McDermott since May 2001 and Vice President and Controller of J. Ray McDermott, S.A. since August 2002. Previously, he was Vice President Tax Administration of McDermott from September 1989 to May 2001.

Francis S. Kalman, 55, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of McDermott since February 2002. Previously, he was: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Vector ESP, Inc. from March 2000 to February 2002; Principal of Pinnacle Equity Partners, LLC from April 1999 to March 2000; Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Chemical Logistics Corporation from February 1998 to April 1999; and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Keystone International, Inc. from May 1996 to September 1997.

David L. Keller, 49, President and Chief Operating Officer of our subsidiary The Babcock & Wilcox Company (B&W) since January 2002. Previously, he was: Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of B&W from March 2001 to January 2002; Senior Vice President, Service Group of B&W from February 2001 to March 2001; President of Diamond Power International, Inc. from March 1998 to February 2001; and General Manager of Diamond Power International from February 1997 to March 1998.

John T. Nesser, III, 54, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of McDermott since February 2001. Previously, he was: Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of McDermott from January 2000 to February 2001; Vice President and Associate General Counsel of McDermott from June 1999 to January 2000; and Associate General Counsel of McDermott from October 1998 to June 1999. Previously, he served as a managing partner of Nesser, King & LeBlanc, a New Orleans law firm, which he co-founded in 1985.

Table of Contents

Fred R. Oehrlein, 58, Executive Vice President, Western Hemisphere, of our subsidiary J. Ray McDermott, S.A. since December 2002. Previously, he was: Executive Vice President, Operations of J. Ray McDermott from August 2002 to December 2002; Vice President and General Manager, Project Services & Compliance of J. Ray McDermott from February 1999 to July 2002; and Vice President and Group Executive, Western Hemisphere of J. Ray McDermott from April 1998 to January 1999.

Louis J. Sannino, 54, Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Corporate Compliance Officer of McDermott since October 2000. Previously, he was: Vice President, Human Resources of McDermott from November 1998 to October 2000; and Director, Human Resources of McDermott from April 1989 to November 1998.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned as of March 1, 2003 by each director or nominee as a director, and each Named Executive Officer (as that term is defined under the caption Compensation of Executive Officers) and all our directors and executive officers as a group, including shares which those persons have the right to acquire within 60 days on the exercise of stock options.

Name	Shares Beneficially Owned
Philip J. Burguieres(1)	88,700
Ronald C. Cambre(2)	7,488
Bruce DeMars(3)	12,534
John A. Fees(4)	111,522
Joe B. Foster(5)	23,175
Robert L. Howard(6)	17,560
John W. Johnstone, Jr.(7)	17,705
Francis S. Kalman(8)	124,334
David L. Keller(9)	86,299
John T. Nesser, III(10)	220,796
Robert H. Rawle(11)	283,036
Bruce W. Wilkinson(12)	723,378
E. A. Womack, Jr.(13)	283,624
Richard E. Woolbert(14)	197,449
All directors and executive officers as a group (20 persons)(15)	2,601,824

- (1) Shares owned by Mr. Burguieres include 9,800 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 1,100 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power.
- (2) Shares owned by Mr. Cambre include 6,325 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 1,100 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power.
- (3) Shares owned by Admiral DeMars include 8,350 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 1,100 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power.
- (4) Shares owned by Mr. Fees include 64,591 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 41,061 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 3,287 shares of common stock held in the McDermott Thrift Plan.
- (5) Shares owned by Mr. Foster include 7,450 restricted shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 950 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power.
- (6) Shares owned by Mr. Howard include 9,077 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 1,250 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power.
- (7) Shares owned by Mr. Johnstone include 9,800 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 1,400 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power.
- (8) Shares owned by Mr. Kalman include 53,334 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 60,000 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole

Table of Contents

voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 11,000 shares held by a family limited partnership, of which he and his wife are the two sole general and limited partners. Mr. Kalman disclaims beneficial ownership of the 11,000 shares held by that family limited partnership, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest.

- (9) Shares owned by Mr. Keller include 57,670 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 25,898 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 2,731 shares of common stock held in the McDermott Thrift Plan.
- (10) Shares owned by Mr. Nesser include 133,433 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 76,009 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also included 2,354 shares of common stock held in the McDermott Thrift Plan.
- (11) Shares owned by Mr. Rawle include 160,591 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 81,621 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 3,311 shares of common stock held in the McDermott Thrift Plan.
- (12) Shares owned by Mr. Wilkinson include 440,167 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 221,906 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 1,305 shares of common stock held in the McDermott Thrift Plan.
- (13) Shares owned by Mr. Womack include 162,844 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 84,032 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 3,983 shares of common stock held in the McDermott Thrift Plan.
- (14) Shares owned by Mr. Woolbert include 126,027 shares of common stock that he may acquire on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 950 restricted shares of common stock as to which he has sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 5 shares of common stock held in a custodial account for an immediate family member under the Uniform Gifts to Minors Act as to which Mr. Woolbert disclaims beneficial ownership.
- (15) Shares owned by all directors and executive officers as a group include 1,480,101 shares of common stock that may be acquired on the exercise of stock options, as described above, and 653,173 restricted shares of common stock as to which they have sole voting power but no dispositive power. Also includes 28,303 shares of common stock held in the McDermott Thrift Plan.

Shares beneficially owned in all cases constituted less than one percent of the outstanding shares of common stock, except that the 723,378 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Mr. Wilkinson constituted approximately 1.11% and the 2,601,824 shares of common stock beneficially owned by all directors and executive officers as a group constituted approximately 3.92% of the outstanding shares of common stock on March 1, 2003, in each case as determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3(d)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table furnishes information concerning all persons known by us to beneficially own 5% or more of our outstanding shares of common stock, which is our only class of voting stock outstanding:

Title of Class	Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership	Percent of Class(1)
Common Stock	Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. World Financial Center, North Tower 250 Vesey Street New York, NY 10381	5,918,998(2)	9.11%
Common Stock	Wellington Management Company, LLP 75 State Street Boston, MA 02109	4,542,700(3)	6.99%
Common Stock	Al A. Gonsoulin 4655 Sweetwater Blvd., Suite 300 Sugar Land, TX 77479	4,000,000(4)	6.16%
Common Stock	Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company, in its capacity as trustee for certain employee benefit plan(s) 500 Admiral Nelson Blvd. Malvern, PA 19355	3,868,243(5)	5.95%

(1) Percent of class based on the outstanding shares of our common stock on March 1, 2003.

- (4) As reported on an amendment to Schedule 13G dated April 29, 2002.
- (5) As reported on a Schedule 13G dated February 10, 2003.

⁽²⁾ As reported on a Schedule 13G dated January 9, 2003.

⁽³⁾ As reported on a Schedule 13G dated December 31, 2002.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

To Our Stockholders

The Compensation Committee is comprised of four independent, nonemployee directors who have no interlocking relationships with McDermott. This Committee exists to develop executive compensation policies that support McDermott s strategic business objectives and values. Our duties include:

Reviewing and approving the design of McDermott s executive compensation programs and all salary arrangements that its executives receive;

Assessing the effectiveness of McDermott s executive compensation programs in light of its compensation policies; and

Evaluating executive performance.

Compensation Philosophy

We adhere to an executive compensation philosophy that supports McDermott s business strategies. These strategies are to:

Maximize profits;

Increase stockholder value;

Strengthen cash flow and liquidity;

Resolve B&W s asbestos-related Chapter 11 reorganization proceeding in a timely and effective manner;

Reinforce operating discipline and excellence in each of McDermott s operating groups; and

Pursue internal and external initiatives for growth.

Our philosophy for executive compensation is to:

Manage compensation opportunities from a total compensation perspective that emphasizes at-risk compensation, while balancing short-term and long-term compensation to support McDermott s business and financial strategic goals;

Structure compensation opportunities that are contingent on performance measures that drive growth and, to the extent possible, are fully competitive;

Reflect positive, as well as negative, company and individual performance in pay;

Emphasize equity-based compensation for McDermott executives to reinforce management s focus on stockholder value;

Structure compensation programs that are flexible and focus, as appropriate, on issues that are unique to individuals and business groups; and

Provide pay opportunities that will attract and retain executive talent.

McDermott s executives participate in a comprehensive compensation program built around this philosophy. The key components of this program include base salary, annual bonus opportunities, long-term, equity-based incentives (stock options, restricted stock and performance units) and benefits.

To ensure that its executive compensation levels are comparable to the practices of other similar companies, McDermott annually collects and reviews compensation data from several external sources. This data covers both specific industries in which McDermott competes and

Table of Contents

general industry. The industry-specific comparison is collected using a group of companies that have national and international business operations and sales volumes, market capitalizations, employment levels, and one or more lines of business that are comparable to McDermott s. We review and approve the selection of companies used for this purpose. The general industry comparison

Table of Contents

group includes more companies than the peer group used in the performance graph included in this proxy statement.

The Committee engaged the Apogee/ Management Compensation Group, an executive compensation consulting firm, to assist in revising McDermott s executive compensation program to more clearly reflect a total compensation approach. Under this approach, McDermott s executive compensation program focuses on competitive opportunities that are contingent upon the achievement of operational and financial performance goals. Individual opportunities are formulated by giving consideration to the executive s position in the Company, individual accountabilities, corporate and unit objectives and compensation practices in the competitive marketplace.

Base Salary

Generally, salaries reflect an individual s level of responsibility, prior experience, breadth of knowledge, personal contributions, position within McDermott s executive structure and market pay practices. Overall, salaries are targeted at or near the median of market practice, with annual adjustments based on performance. When making annual adjustments, we conduct a qualitative assessment that considers many factors, including individual performance, both past and present. The factors used in making this evaluation may vary by individual and by position.

As part of the review conducted by Apogee/ Management Compensation Group, a thorough analysis was performed to compare current executive salaries with comparable industry benchmarks. The analysis determined that our salaries were generally within 10% of the market median considered to be fully competitive. As a result, we did not grant across-the-board salary increases to McDermott s executives in 2002. Instead, we focused on a new structure for annual cash incentives and an increased emphasis on long-term incentives.

During fiscal year 2002, Bruce W. Wilkinson served as McDermott s Chief Executive Officer. During the year, Mr. Wilkinson s base salary was increased by 20% to \$600,000. Effective January 1, 2003, his salary was increased by 8.3% to \$650,000. These adjustments reflect both assessments of competitive practices and the Compensation Committee s evaluation of Mr. Wilkinson s performance.

Annual Bonus

As part of the short-term component of McDermott s overall executive compensation program for the year ended December 31, 2002, we provided bonus opportunities to officers and key executives through McDermott s Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (the EICP).

For the year ended December 31, 2002, we provided annual bonus opportunities that focused on objectives that drive earnings and growth. Key employees at McDermott s corporate headquarters and business groups whose effective performance can have a reasonable impact on McDermott s tactical and strategic initiatives participated in the EICP. Each participant had a target award, expressed as a percentage (or multiplier) of their base annual salary. Business plan performance measures and individual performance measures were defined at the beginning of the year. A threshold, target and maximum level of performance was defined for each business plan measure. Target performance results in eligibility for payment of 100% of the targeted amount. Performance below the target, but above the threshold amount, and performance above the target, would result in a decreased or increased payout, respectively. Bonuses of up to 200% of individual target awards may be earned under the EICP.

Given the nature of the operating losses encountered by McDermott s J. Ray McDermott marine unit, attainment of the threshold performance and financial measures were not achieved for 2002. However, the resulting management restructuring has consumed much attention and has made satisfactory progress. Consequently, we approved and paid special bonuses to selected corporate staff and J. Ray McDermott executives who, under the terms of the EICP, would not have otherwise received incentive compensation. The awards, which were a fraction of the individuals target awards, were approved as a result of our assessment that these individuals performed commendably in 2002, relative to their individual performance measures, and their contributions merited recognition. Under this special bonus arrangement, Mr. Wilkinson received a \$144,000 bonus for the year



Table of Contents

ended December 31, 2002. Executives at McDermott s BWXT Group and B&W Group earned and received bonuses greater than their targeted bonus amounts under the EICP.

Long-Term Incentives

McDermott believes that the interests of its stockholders are best served when a significant percentage of officers compensation opportunities is comprised of equity-based incentives that acquire value contingent upon increases in the share price of McDermott s common stock and other indicators that reflect improvements in business fundamentals. In determining the size and frequency of individual long-term incentive awards, the Committee considers:

market practices among similar companies;

level of responsibility;

individual performance; and

the potential of the grant recipient to affect future outcomes.

The Committee does not apply any specific weighting of these factors in its determinations.

In 2002, McDermott awarded executives and key employees with equity-based incentives through the 1996 Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan and 2001 Directors and Officers Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 2001 LTIP). It is McDermott s intention to review compensation opportunities annually and to make awards under its long-term plans at such times and in such amounts as may be required to accomplish the objectives described above.

Stock Options. Stock options are granted to McDermott s executives to provide an equity-based incentive component to their compensation. In 2002, McDermott granted stock options at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, McDermott granted Mr. Wilkinson options to acquire 200,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$14.50 per share. These options vest one-third on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant and have a term of 10 years.

Performance Shares. In recent years, we granted to McDermott executives performance stock awards of restricted stock (Performance Shares) based on salary multiples corresponding to their titles and positions with McDermott and its subsidiaries. Performance Shares were awarded as notional grants of restricted stock. No shares were issued at the time of the notional grant. The number of shares of restricted stock actually received by a participant, if any, is determined on the second anniversary of the grant date by calculating the difference between the fair market value of a share of our common stock (based on the preceding 30-trading-day average) and the fair market value on the grant date. The difference is multiplied by the number of shares in an executive s notional grant, and the resulting product is divided by the fair market value of our common stock as of the second anniversary of the grant date, calculated as described above. The resulting number is added to (in the case of an increase in share price) or subtracted from (in the case of a decrease in share price) the number of shares in an executive zero), is then issued to the executive as restricted stock on the second anniversary of the grant date. The restricted stock wests two years thereafter. Until then, the restricted shares are nontransferable and are subject to forfeiture under certain circumstances.

Mr. Wilkinson received a notional grant of 59,040 shares of restricted stock on April 27, 2000. The two-year measurement period for these shares ended on April 27, 2002. Using the formula stated above, and as a result of the increase in McDermott s common stock price, Mr. Wilkinson received 86,906 shares of restricted stock under the 1996 Officer Long-Term Incentive Plan on April 27, 2002, with a fair market value on the date of grant of \$16.3789 per share. These shares are scheduled to vest on April 27, 2004.

Restricted Stock. In fiscal year 2002, we made grants of restricted stock under the 2001 LTIP. Actual shares of stock were issued at the time of grant, the vesting of which is scheduled to occur upon the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the award date or the achievement of predetermined individual performance measures. Until

Table of Contents

those shares of restricted stock vest, they are nontransferable and subject to forfeiture under certain circumstances.

In March 2002, Mr. Wilkinson received 50,000 shares of restricted stock.

In August 2002, grants of restricted stock were made to a small number of executives as a retention tool and in recognition of performance. Mr. Wilkinson was granted 40,000 shares of restricted stock under the 2001 LTIP on August 8, 2002. These shares are scheduled to vest one-quarter on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant.

Performance Units. McDermott introduced performance units as a new incentive and retention concept for its officers and key employees in 2003. The performance units will result in a cash payment at the end of a three-year measurement period if the predetermined performance measure is achieved.

Benefits

Benefits offered to key executives serve a different purpose than the other elements of McDermott s compensation program. In general, they provide a safety net of protection against financial catastrophes that can result from illness, disability or death. Benefits offered to key executives are generally the same as those offered to the general employee population, with some variation to promote tax efficiency and replacement of benefit opportunities lost due to regulatory limits.

Policy with Respect to Section 162(m)

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code limits McDermott s tax deductions relating to the compensation paid to certain executive officers, unless the compensation is performance-based and the material terms of the applicable performance goals are disclosed to and approved by McDermott s stockholders. All of McDermott s past executive compensation plans have received stockholder approval and were prepared with the intention that McDermott s incentive compensation would qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m).

While we intend to continue to rely on performance-based compensation programs, we are cognizant of the need for flexibility in making executive compensation decisions, based on the relevant facts and circumstances, so that the best interests of McDermott are achieved. To the extent consistent with this goal, we will attempt to satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m) in the future.

Conclusion

We believe McDermott s executive compensation policies and programs serve the interests of McDermott and its stockholders effectively, and that the various pay vehicles offered are appropriately balanced to provide appropriate motivation for executives to contribute to McDermott s overall future success, thereby enhancing the value of McDermott for its stockholders benefit.

We will continue to monitor the effectiveness of McDermott s total compensation programs to meet the current needs of our company.

THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE R. L. Howard, Chairman R. C. Cambre B. DeMars J. W. Johnstone, Jr. 17

PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in McDermott s cumulative total return on its common stock over the preceding five-year period with the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor s 500 Stock Index and with a peer group of publicly traded companies over the same period. The peer group consists of Cal Dive International, Inc., Fluor Corporation, Foster Wheeler Corporation, Global Industries, Ltd., Gulf Island Fabrication, Inc., Halliburton Company, Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc., Oceaneering International, Inc., Stolt Offshore S.A., and Technip-Coflexip.

Comparison of 5-Year Cumulative Total Return*

McDermott International, Inc.; S&P 500; and Peer Group

* Assumes \$100 invested on December 31, 1997 in our common stock, the S&P 500, and the peer group, and the reinvestment of dividends as they are paid.

	12/31/97	12/31/98	12/31/99	12/31/00	12/31/01	12/31/02
McDermott						
International, Inc.	\$100.00	\$ 67.85	\$ 25.20	\$ 30.23	\$ 34.50	\$12.32
S&P 500	\$100.00	\$128.52	\$155.53	\$141.36	\$124.63	\$97.15
Peer Group	\$100.00	\$ 68.69	\$ 88.01	\$ 85.80	\$ 49.96	\$46.72
•						

COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table summarizes the annual and long-term compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, our four highest paid executive officers other than our CEO and two former executive officers (collectively, the Named Executive Officers) for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Summary Compensation Table

			Annual Compensation(1)				Long-Term Compensation						
								Awa	ards	Pa	youts		
Name	Principal Position	Period Ended	Salary	Bonus		her nual p.(2)	_	Restricted Stock wards(3)	Securities Underlying Options		TIP youts	All Other Comp.(r
B.W. Wilkinson	Chairman & Chief Executive Officer	12/02 12/01 12/00	\$600,000 \$500,004 \$337,503	\$144,000 \$800,000 \$350,000(5)	\$ \$ \$ 54	0 0 ,212	\$ \$ \$	2,299,676 671,486 0	200,000 180,000 303,500	\$ \$ \$	0 0 0	\$3,750 \$6,336 \$ (
J.A. Fees	President & Chief Operating Officer, BWX	12/02 12/01	\$280,208 \$260,000	\$195,615 \$228,150	\$ \$	0 0	\$ \$	348,293 210,548	64,800 116,440	\$ \$	0 0	\$4,508 \$5,820	
	Technologies	12/00	\$200,456	\$116,128	\$	0	\$	0	32,300	\$	0	\$5,630	0
F.S. Kalman(6)	Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer	12/02	\$307,576	\$200,000(7)	\$	0	\$	572,222	160,000	\$	0	\$ (0
D.L. Keller	President & Chief Operating Officer	12/02	\$300,000	\$212,520	\$	0	\$	175,730	0(8)	\$	0	\$4,500	0
	of	12/01	\$240,295	\$260,000	\$ 52		\$	223,829	0	\$	0	\$6,311	
	B&W	12/00	\$181,290	\$ 82,593	\$	0	\$	0	0	\$	0	\$5,427	7
J.T. Nesser, III	Executive Vice	12/02	\$317,040	\$ 52,312	\$107	.405	\$	649,772	84,000	\$	0	\$4,508	8
,	President, General Counsel &	12/01	\$313,590	\$335,000	\$	0	\$	387,969	104,000	\$		\$5,109	
	Corporate Secretary	12/00	\$275,640	\$100,000	\$	0	\$	0	36,100	\$	0	\$7,177	7
R.H. Rawle	Former												
	President & Chief Operating	12/02	\$386,004	\$ 0	\$	0	\$	800,496	73,600	\$	0	\$4,505	5
	Officer,	12/01	\$367,620	\$370,000	\$	0	\$	401,698	107,680	\$		\$5,106	
	J. Ray McDermott	12/00	\$365,200	\$100,000	\$	0	\$	0	64,270	\$	0	\$5,106	6
E.A. Womack, Jr.	Former												
	President & Chief Operating	12/02	\$385,440	\$326,468	\$	0	\$	822,749	73,600	\$	0	\$4,502	2
	Officer of BWX	12/01	\$385,440	\$396,000	\$	0	\$	399,310	107,040	\$	0	\$5,105	5
	Technologies, and Former President of McDermott Incorporated and McDermott Technology, Inc.	12/00	\$382,940	\$296,789	\$	0	\$	0	66,950	\$	0	\$5,107	7

- (1) Includes salary and bonus earned in a fiscal year, whether or not deferred. Bonuses are paid after the fiscal year during which they are earned.
- (2) The aggregate value of perquisites and other personal benefits received by a Named Executive Officer during a fiscal year is not included if it does not exceed the lesser of \$50,000 or 10 percent of the total amount of such officer s salary and bonus for that period. The amounts shown for Messrs. Wilkinson, Keller and Nesser are attributable to relocation expenses.
- (3) Includes restricted stock granted in 2002 and restricted stock issued in 2002 as a result of performance share awards granted during fiscal year 2000. The restricted stock awards are valued at the closing market price of common stock on the date of grant. The restricted stock issued as a result of the performance share awards are valued at the closing market price of common stock on the date the restricted stock was issued. McDermott waived the \$1.00 per share payment requirement for the restricted stock issued as a result of the performance share awards.

As of December 31, 2002, the total number of all restricted stock held by the Named Executive Officers and their market value (based on a closing market price on December 31, 2002 of \$4.38, net of any consideration paid for such shares) are as follows:

Name	Shares of Restricted Stock	Market Value
Wilkinson	221,906	\$971,948
Fees	41,061	\$179,847
Kalman	60,000	\$262,800
Keller	25,898	\$113,433
Nesser	76,009	\$332,919
Rawle	81,621	\$357,500
Womack	87,222	\$382,032

Dividends are paid on restricted stock at the same time and at the same rate as dividends paid to all stockholders. Grants of restricted stock in 2002 vest on the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the award date or the achievement of pre-determined individual performance measures. In the event of a change in control of our company, the Compensation Committee may cause all restrictions to lapse.

(4) Amounts shown for each Named Executive Officer for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 are attributable to our matching contributions to such officer s contribution under the McDermott Thrift Plan.

(5) Includes a \$100,000 signing bonus.

- (6) Reflects only the compensation paid to Mr. Kalman from the time he joined our company in February 2002.
- (7) Includes a \$100,000 signing bonus.
- (8) B&W employees no longer participate in McDermott s equity-based long-term incentive programs, as a result of the B&W Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings. Our Board of Directors has approved the 2002 Babcock & Wilcox Performance Incentive Plan for The Babcock & Wilcox Company. If approved in the B&W Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings, this plan would be available to provide long-term incentives to eligible B&W employees in the form of cash awards.

Option Grant Table

The following table provides information about option grants to the Named Executive Officers during fiscal year 2002.

Option Grants in Fiscal Year 2002

	Number of Securities Underlying Options Granted in	% of Total Options Granted to	Exercise	Evaluation	Potential Realizable Value at Assumed Annual Rates of Stock Price Appreciation for Option Term(2)			
Name	2002	Employees in 2002(3)	Price (Per Share)(4)	Expiration Date	5%	10%		
B.W. Wilkinson	200,000	12.88	\$14.5000	03/06/12	\$1,823,794	\$4,621,853		
J.A. Fees	32,000	2.06	\$ 6.8200	09/16/12	\$ 137,250	\$ 347,818		
	32,800	2.11	\$14.5000	03/06/12	\$ 299,102	\$ 757,984		
F.S. Kalman	160,000	10.30	\$12.3516	02/01/12	\$1,242,857	\$3,149,643		
D.L. Keller	0							
J.T. Nesser, III	84,000	5.41	\$14.5000	03/06/12	\$ 765,994	\$1,941,178		
R.H. Rawle	73,600	4.74	\$14.5000	03/06/12	\$ 671,156	\$1,700,842		
E.A. Womack, Jr.	73,600	4.74	\$14.5000	03/06/12	\$ 671,156	\$1,700,842		

(1) Options granted in fiscal year 2002 vest in equal installments of one-third on the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant and expire ten years from the date of grant. In general, vesting is contingent on continuing employment with us or one of our subsidiaries. In the event of a change in control of our company, all outstanding options will vest and become immediately exercisable.

(2) Potential Realizable Value is based on the assumed annual growth rates for each of the grants shown over their ten-year option term. For example, if the exercise price is \$14.5000, a 5% annual growth rate over ten years results in a stock price of \$23.62 per share, and a 10% rate results in a price of \$37.61 per share. Actual gains, if any, on stock option exercises are dependent on the future performance of the stock. Zero percent appreciation in stock price will result in no gain.

(3) Based on options to acquire 1,553,190 shares of common stock granted to all employees of McDermott and its subsidiaries during fiscal year 2002.

(4) Fair market value on date of grant.

Option Exercises and Year-End Value Table

The following table provides information concerning the exercise of stock options during fiscal year 2002 by each of the Named Executive Officers and the value at December 31, 2002 of unexercised options held by those persons. The value of unexercised options reflects the increase (if any) in market value of our common stock from the date of grant through December 31, 2002 (when the fair market value of our common stock was \$4.365 per share). The actual value realized on option exercise will depend on the value of our common stock at the time of exercise.

Aggregated Option Exercises in Fiscal Year 2002

and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

	Shares Acquired		_	Unexercis	Number of ed Options at Year-End		al Value -the-Mor Fiscal		ons at (
Name	on Exercise	Value Realized		Exercisable	Unexercisable	Exercisable		Unexercisable	
B.W. Wilkinson	0	\$	0	262,333	421,167	\$	0	\$	0
J.A. Fees	0	\$	0	29,501	107,769	\$	0	\$	0
F.S. Kalman	0	\$	0	0	160,000	\$	0	\$	0
D.L. Keller	0	\$	0	32,247	45,423	\$	0	\$	0
J.T. Nesser, III	0	\$	0	58,734	165,366	\$	0	\$	0
R.H. Rawle	0	\$	0	78,741	166,809	\$	0	\$	0
E.A. Womack, Jr.	0	\$	0	80,313	167,277	\$	0	\$	0

Change in Control Arrangements

Under our equity-based long term incentive compensation plans, upon a change in control of McDermott, all stock options will immediately become exercisable, all restrictions applicable to shares of restricted stock will immediately lapse, and all DSUs will immediately become vested.

Separation Agreements

In connection with his retirement as President and Chief Operating Officer of BWX Technologies, Inc. and President of McDermott Incorporated and McDermott Technology, Inc. on December 31, 2002, Mr. Womack entered into a separation agreement with BWX Technologies. Pursuant to the separation agreement, Mr. Womack has been paid a bonus for 2002 in the amount of \$326,468 under BWX Technologies variable supplemental compensation plan, in accordance with the provisions of the plan. Subject to restrictions on competition, confidentiality and related matters, Mr. Womack retained all of his vested and unvested stock options, restricted stock grants and DSUs. Mr. Womack s stock options, restricted stock and DSUs will become exercisable or vested in accordance with the terms under which they were originally granted. McDermott consented to Mr. Womack s early retirement under McDermott s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the

SERP). On January 1, 2003, Mr. Womack began receiving benefits under the SERP and McDermott s excess plan described below under Retirement Plans, subject to certain restrictions. In addition, Mr. Womack has entered into a consulting agreement with McDermott, which we may terminate for any reason upon 30 days advance written notice. Under the terms of the consulting agreement, Mr. Womack will provide consulting services related to the business of BWX Technologies and serve as a board member of some of its affiliated companies. BWX Technologies will pay Mr. Womack \$15,000 per year for his services and \$1,000 per board meeting attended and will also reimburse Mr. Womack for expenses related to his services.

In connection with his retirement as President and Chief Operating Officer of J. Ray McDermott on July 1, 2002, Mr. Rawle entered into a separation agreement with J. Ray McDermott pursuant to which he continued to remain employed by J. Ray McDermott at the same base salary until December 31, 2002. Pursuant to the separation agreement, Mr. Rawle retained all of his vested and unvested stock options, restricted stock grants and DSUs, subject to certain restrictions on competition, confidentiality, nonsolicitation and related matters. Mr. Rawle s stock options, restricted stock and DSUs will become exercisable or vested in accordance with the

terms under which they were originally granted. McDermott consented to Mr. Rawle s early retirement under the SERP, and on January 1, 2003, Mr. Rawle began receiving benefits under the SERP and McDermott s excess plan described below under Retirement Plans, subject to certain restrictions.

Retirement Plans

Pension Plans. We maintain retirement plans that are funded by trusts that cover substantially all regular full-time employees of McDermott and its subsidiaries, except certain nonresident alien employees who are not citizens of a European Community country or who do not earn income in the United States, Canada or the United Kingdom. Officers who are employees of McDermott or certain of its subsidiaries, including but not limited to McDermott Incorporated and B&W, are covered under The Retirement Plan for Employees of McDermott Incorporated and Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies (the McDermott Retirement Plan). Under the McDermott Retirement Plan, salaried B&W employees and other salaried employees who began their career with B&W (collectively, the B&W tenured employees) accrue benefits under a different formula than other participants in the plan. Officers who are employed by J. Ray McDermott or certain of its subsidiaries or affiliates are covered under The Retirement Plan of Employees of J. Ray McDermott Holdings, Inc. (the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan). As of March 31, 2003, benefit accruals under the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan ceased. Employees do not contribute to either of these plans, and company contributions are determined on an actuarial basis. To the extent benefits payable under these qualified plans are limited by Section 415(b) or 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Code, pension benefits will be paid directly by the applicable company or a subsidiary under the terms of unfunded excess benefit plans maintained by them (the Excess Plans). An employee must be employed by the applicable company or a subsidiary for one year prior to participating in the plans and must have five years of continuous service to vest in any accrued benefits under the plans, except that all employees participating in the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan on March 31, 2003 became fully vested at that time.

The benefit formula under the McDermott Retirement Plan applicable to participants who are not B&W tenured employees is the same as those payable to employees covered under the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan, prior to the cessation of benefit accruals under the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan, prior to the cessation of benefit accruals under the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan as described above. The following table shows the annual benefit payable to non-B&W tenured employees under the McDermott Retirement Plan and to J. Ray McDermott employees under the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan, at age 65 (the normal retirement age), who retire in 2003 in accordance with the lifetime-only method of payment and before profit sharing plan offsets. Benefits are based on the formula of a specified percentage (dependent on years of service) of average annual basic earnings (exclusive of bonus and allowances) during the 60 successive months out of the 120 successive months before retirement in which such earnings were highest (Final Average Earnings), less a specified percentage of anticipated social security benefits. As of December 31, 2002, Mr. Rawle had Final Average Earnings of \$359,397 and 24.25 years of credited service under the J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan and Messrs. Kalman, Nesser and Wilkinson had not vested in any accrued benefits under the McDermott Retirement Plan. Unless elected otherwise by the employee, payment will be made in the form of a joint and survivor annuity of equivalent actuarial value to the amount shown below.

McDermott Retirement Plan Benefits for Non-B&W Tenured Employees

		An	nual Benefits at	Age 65 for Yea	rs of Service In	dicated	
Final Average Earnings	10	15	20	25	30	35	40
325,000	52,101	78,152	104,203	130,254	156,304	182,355	208,406
350,000	56,268	84,402	112,536	140,670	168,804	196,938	225,073
375,000	60,435	90,652	120,870	151,087	181,304	211,522	241,739

and J. Ray McDermott Retirement Plan Benefits

The following table shows the annual benefit payable under the McDermott Retirement Plan at age 65 (the normal retirement age) to B&W tenured employees who retire in 2003 in accordance with the lifetime-only method of payment. B&W benefits are based on the formula of a specified percentage (dependent on the level of wages subject to social security taxes during the employee s career) of average annual earnings (inclusive of

bonuses) during the 60 successive months out of the 120 successive months prior to retirement in which such earnings were highest (B&W Final Average Earnings). B&W Final Average Earnings and credited service under the McDermott Retirement Plan as of December 31, 2002 for Messrs. Fees, Keller and Womack were \$351,021 and 23.58 years, \$333,960 and 24.58 years and \$700,191 and 27.25 years, respectively. Unless elected otherwise by the employee, payment will be made in the form of a joint and survivor annuity of equivalent actuarial value to the amount shown below.

McDermott Retirement Plan Benefits for B&W Tenured Employees

. . .

60

B&W Final Average Earnings	Annual Benefits at Age 65 for Years of Service Indicated						
	10	15	20	25	30	35	40
300,000	37,500	56,250	75,000	93,750	112,500	131,250	150,000
400,000	50,000	75,000	100,000	125,000	150,000	175,000	200,000
500,000	62,500	93,750	125,000	156,250	187,500	218,750	250,000
600,000	75,000	112,500	150,000	187,500	225,000	262,500	300,000
700,000	87,500	131,250	175,000	218,750	262,500	306,250	350,000
800,000	100,000	150,000	200,000	250,000	300,000	350,000	400,000

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. We maintain an unfunded Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the SERP) that covers certain of our officers and officers of some of our subsidiaries, including McDermott Incorporated, J. Ray McDermott and B&W. Generally, benefits are based on a specified percentage (determined by age, years of service and date of initial participation in the SERP) of final three-year average cash compensation (salary plus supplemental compensation for the highest three out of the last ten fiscal years of service) or three-year average cash compensation prior to the SERP scheduled retirement date, whichever is greater. The maximum benefit may not exceed 60% (depending on the date of initial participation in the SERP) of such three-year average cash compensation. Payments under the SERP will be reduced by an amount equal to pension benefits payable under any other retirement plan maintained by us or any of our subsidiaries. Before giving effect to such reductions, the approximate annual benefit payable under the SERP to Messrs. Wilkinson and Nesser if they remain employed with McDermott until retirement age as stated in the SERP is 30% and 48%, respectively, of each such person s final three-year average cash compensation. Before giving effect to such reductions, the approximate annual benefit being paid to Messrs. Rawle and Womack is 29% and 45%, respectively, of each such person s final three-year average cash compensation. The SERP also provides a surviving spouse death benefit.

We have established a trust designed to provide funding for the payment of benefits arising under the SERP, the Excess Plans and certain other contracts and arrangements (collectively, the Plans) in the event of an effective change in control of McDermott. The trust is currently unfunded. Although we would retain primary responsibility for such payments, to the extent of the available assets, the trust would provide for payments to designated participants, in the form of lump-sum distributions, if certain events occur following an effective change in control of McDermott, including but not limited to our failure to make such payments and the termination of a participant s employment under certain specified circumstances. In addition, with respect to benefits that otherwise would have been paid in the form of an annuity, the trust provides for certain lump-sum equalization payments, which, when added to the basic lump-sum payments described above, would be sufficient, after payment of all applicable taxes, to enable each active participant receiving a lump-sum distribution to purchase an annuity that would provide such participant with the same net after-tax stream of annuity benefits that such participant would have realized had he retired as of the date of the lump-sum distribution and began receiving annuity payments at that time under the terms of the applicable Plan, based on salary and service factors at the time of the effective change in control. In the case of designated participants who retire before an effective change in control and who receive a basic lump-sum distribution under the circumstances described above, the trust provides for similar lump-sum equalization payments, based on salary and service factors at the time of actual retirement.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Each year the Board of Directors appoints an audit committee to review McDermott International, Inc. s financial matters. Each member of the audit committee meets the independence requirements established by the New York Stock Exchange. Our responsibilities as members of the audit committee include recommending to the Board an accounting firm to be hired as McDermott s independent accountants. We are also responsible for recommending to the Board that McDermott s financial statements be included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year.

In making our recommendation that McDermott s financial statements be included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, we have taken the following steps:

We discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, McDermott s independent accountants for the year ended December 31, 2002, those matters required to be discussed by Statements On Auditing Standards Nos. 61 and 90, including information regarding the scope and results of the audit. These communications and discussions are intended to assist us in overseeing the financial reporting and disclosure process.

We conducted executive sessions with PricewaterhouseCoopers at each audit committee meeting, with no members of McDermott management present during those discussions. PricewaterhouseCoopers did not identify any material audit issues, questions or discrepancies, other than those previously discussed with management, which were resolved to the satisfaction of all parties.

We conducted periodic executive sessions with McDermott s Vice President, Internal Audit and regularly received reports regarding McDermott s internal control procedures.

We discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers its independence and received from PricewaterhouseCoopers a letter concerning its independence as required by applicable independence standards for auditors of public companies. This discussion and disclosure helped us in evaluating such independence. We also considered whether the provision of nonaudit services to McDermott is compatible with the auditors independence.

During 2002, McDermott migrated to an internal audit function staffed primarily with company employees. Ernst & Young is engaged on an as-needed basis based on particular areas of expertise.

We determined that, while McDermott has no policy prohibiting it, there were no former PricewaterhouseCoopers employees, who previously participated in the McDermott audit, engaged in the financial function of McDermott.

We have confirmed that the Corporate Compliance Officer of McDermott has reviewed the ethics and conflict of interest statements received from directors, officers, key employees and joint venture partners and has determined that there were no material instances of conflict of interest or breach of McDermott s code of conduct reported. In addition, the Corporate Compliance Officer has reviewed the reports of incidents of noncompliance and has confirmed that the appropriate actions were taken and that adequate procedures are in place.

We reviewed and discussed with McDermott s management and PricewaterhouseCoopers, McDermott s audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002, and consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss, cash flows, and stockholders equity for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Based on the reviews and actions described above we recommended to the Board that McDermott s financial statements be included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE Joe B. Foster (Chairman) Ronald C. Cambre Bruce DeMars John W. Johnstone, Jr. 25

APPROVAL OF RETENTION OF

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2003

(ITEM 2)

Upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee, our Board of Directors has approved the retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers to serve as independent accountants to audit our accounts for fiscal year 2003. Although not required to do so, our Board of Directors is submitting the retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers to our stockholders for their approval. PricewaterhouseCoopers served as our independent accountants for fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002. Representatives of PricewaterhouseCoopers will be present at the Annual Meeting and will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and to respond to appropriate questions.

During the years ended December 31, 2002, and December 31, 2001, McDermott paid PricewaterhouseCoopers fees totaling \$5,753,182 and \$7,319,000, respectively, which can be categorized as follows:

	2002	2001
Audit Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for the audits of the consolidated financial statements of McDermott, statutory and subsidiary audits, income tax provision procedures, and assistance with review of documents filed with the SEC	\$4,234,655	\$3,601,659
Audit Related Aggregate fees for assurance and related services including benefit plan audits, accounting consultations, and other attest services not required by statute or regulation	\$ 178,152	\$ 205,751
Tax Aggregate fees for tax services rendered for tax planning services, tax audits and appeals, and general tax advice	\$ 289,345	\$ 194,370
All Other Aggregate fees for all other services rendered for claims management services and restructuring activities related to the Chapter 11 Bankruptcy filing of B&W and certain of its subsidiaries through August 30, 2002, internal audit services for the period January 1, 2001 to June 30, 2001, and risk management advisory services	\$1,051,030	\$3,317,220
Total	\$5,753,182	\$7,319,000

McDermott s Audit Committee has not yet adopted/enacted pre-approval policies and procedures for audit and non-audit services. Therefore, the proxy disclosure does not include pre-approval policies and procedures and related information. McDermott is early adopting components of the proxy fee disclosure requirements. The requirements do not become effective until periodic annual filings for the first fiscal year ending after December 15, 2003.

Recommendation and Vote Required

Our Board of Directors unanimously recommends that stockholders vote FOR the retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers as our independent accountants for fiscal year 2003. The proxy holders will vote all proxies received for approval of this proposal unless instructed otherwise. Approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock present in person or represented

Table of Contents

by proxy and entitled to vote on this proposal at the Annual Meeting. Because abstentions are counted as present for purposes of the vote on this matter but are not votes FOR this proposal, they have the same effect as votes AGAINST this proposal. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the vote.

CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

Newfield Exploration Company, a company of which Joe B. Foster (one of our directors) is the Non-executive Chairman of the Board and Philip J. Burguieres (another of our directors) is also a member of the Board of Directors, manages and operates an offshore producing oil and gas property for one of J. Ray McDermott s subsidiaries under a production and operation agreement. Under the agreement, this subsidiary is required to pay Newfield (1) an operations management fee of \$10,947 per month, (2) a marketing services fee at a rate of \$.01/ MMBTU, with a minimum monthly fee of \$1,500, (3) a minimum accounting and property supervision fee of \$5,474 per month and (4) reimbursement for certain costs incurred by Newfield in connection with the agreement. During fiscal year 2002, this subsidiary paid approximately \$925,000 to Newfield under the agreement. We estimate that this subsidiary will pay approximately \$900,000 under the agreement during fiscal year 2003. This J. Ray McDermott subsidiary also sold natural gas at established market prices to Newfield. During fiscal year 2002, such natural gas sales were approximately \$2.23 million. Another subsidiary of J. Ray McDermott also periodically enters into agreements to design, fabricate or install offshore pipelines or structures for Newfield. There were no such transactions between Newfield and J. Ray McDermott during the year ended December 31, 2002.

From time to time, one or more of J. Ray McDermott s subsidiaries purchases oil and gas pressure control equipment for customer projects from Cooper Cameron Corporation. Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Bruce W. Wilkinson, is a director of Cooper Cameron Corporation. During fiscal year 2002, such purchases amounted to approximately \$712,000.

In 2002, McDermott relocated some of its executive officers from New Orleans, Louisiana to its offices in Houston, Texas, in order to establish a greater corporate presence in Houston. McDermott provided those employees with professional relocation assistance. McDermott s domestic relocation policy provides financial and professional relocation assistance to qualifying employees through its third-party relocation administrator. In 2002, McDermott expended approximately \$300,000 for these relocations. The fair market value of homes entered into McDermott s relocation program was determined by averaging the appraisals received from independent real estate appraisers solicited by McDermott s third-party relocation administrator.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors and executive officers, and persons who own 10% or more of our voting stock, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership of our equity securities with the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange. Directors, executive officers and 10% or more holders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. Based solely on a review of the copies of those forms furnished to us, or written representations that no forms were required, we believe that our directors, executive officers and 10% or more beneficial owners complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements during the year ended December 31, 2002.

STOCKHOLDERS PROPOSALS

Any stockholder who wishes to have a qualified proposal considered for inclusion in our 2004 proxy statement must send notice of the proposal to our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive office no later than December 6, 2003. If you make such a proposal, you must provide your name, address, the number of shares of common stock you hold of record or beneficially, the date or dates on which such common stock was acquired and documentary support for any claim of beneficial ownership.

27

Table of Contents

In addition, any stockholder who intends to submit a proposal for consideration at our 2004 Annual Meeting, but not for inclusion in our proxy materials, or who intends to submit nominees for election as directors at the meeting must notify our Corporate Secretary. Under our By-Laws, such notice must (1) be received at our executive offices no earlier than January 8, 2004 or later than February 7, 2004 and (2) satisfy certain requirements. A copy of the pertinent By-Law provisions can be obtained from our Corporate Secretary on written request.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

JOHN T. NESSER, III Secretary

Dated: April 4, 2003

28

APPENDIX A

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.

AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHARTER

Preamble

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of McDermott International, Inc. (hereinafter sometimes the Company or McDermott) adopts this charter.

I. Purpose

The primary function of the Audit Committee (the Committee) is to assist the Board of Directors (the Board) in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to financial reports and other financial information provided by the Company to the stockholders and others by carrying out the following duties:

Serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company s financial reporting process and internal control system.

Review and appraise the audit efforts of the Company s outside auditors and the internal auditing department.

Provide an open avenue of communication among the outside auditors, financial and senior management, the internal audit department and the Board.

II. Committee Composition

The Committee will be composed of not less than three members of the Board. All members of the Committee shall have a working familiarity with basic finance and accounting practices, and at least one member shall have accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Committee membership shall meet the independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), as defined in the NYSE Listed Company Manual and other regulatory bodies as appropriate. Accordingly, all of the members will be directors independent of management and free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment as a Committee member.

The members of the Committee shall be elected by the Board at each annual organizational meeting and shall serve until the Board s next annual organizational meeting and their successors are duly elected and qualified. Unless a chair is elected by the full Board, the members of the Committee may designate a chair by majority vote of the full Committee membership.

The Audit Committee shall have the authority to engage independent counsel or other advisors, as it determines necessary to carry out its duties. An outside consultant is to provide accounting and financial management expertise.

III. Meetings

The Committee shall meet at least four times annually or more frequently as circumstances dictate. A detailed written agenda shall be prepared and distributed in advance.

The Committee shall meet at least annually with management, the internal audit director and the outside auditors, in separate executive sessions, to discuss any matters that the Committee or any of these individuals or groups believe should be discussed privately. The Committee

Table of Contents

shall maintain a high degree of independence both in establishing its agenda and directly accessing various members of McDermott International and subsidiary management.

The Committee will maintain written minutes of all its meetings, which will be available to every member of the Board.

IV. Responsibilities and Duties

The Committee s principal responsibility is one of oversight. The Company s management is responsible for preparing the Company s financial statements and the outside auditors are responsible for auditing and reviewing those financial statements. Additionally, the Committee recognizes that financial management (including the internal audit staff), as well as the outside auditors, have more knowledge and more detailed information about the Company than do the members of the Committee; consequently, in carrying out its oversight responsibilities the Committee is not providing any expert or special assurance as to the Company s financial statements or any professional certification as to the independent accountants work.

The following functions shall be the common recurring activities of the Committee in carrying out its oversight responsibility. These functions are set forth as a guide with the understanding that the Committee may diverge from this guide as appropriate given the circumstances.

Disclosure and Reporting

1. Review this charter periodically, as conditions dictate, but at least annually, and update the charter if necessary or appropriate. McDermott will state in its annual proxy statement that a written charter has been adopted and include a copy of the charter as an appendix to the proxy statement once every three years.

2. Include a report in its annual proxy statement, with the names of all Committee members, stating whether the Committee:

(1) reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management;

(2) discussed with the outside auditors matters requiring discussions by the Statement on Audit Standards (SAS) No. 61, *Communication with Audit Committees;*

(3) received the written disclosures and letter from the outside auditors required by Independence Standards Board No. 1, and discussed with the outside auditors their independence; and

(4) based on that review and discussion, recommended to the full Board that the audited financial statements be included in McDermott s Form 10-K.

3. Ensure that McDermott provides the NYSE written confirmation regarding:

(1) any determination the Board has made regarding the independence of directors;

(2) financial literacy of Committee members;

(3) the determination that at least one of the Committee members has accounting or related financial management expertise; and

(4) the annual review and reassessment of the adequacy of the Audit Committee charter.

4. Disclose in the proxy statement whether the Audit Committee members are independent as defined in the applicable listing standards, and disclose certain information regarding any director on the Audit Committee who is not independent.

Documents/ Reports Review

5. Review the Company s annual and quarterly financial statements, related footnotes and disclosures, earnings announcements and any other significant reports or other financial information with financial management and the outside auditor, including any matters of the type described in SAS No. 61, prior to being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission or to the public. The chair of the Committee may represent the entire Committee for purposes of this review.

A-2

Table of Contents

6. Review significant internal audit reports and management s responses with the Vice President of Internal Audit.

7. The Audit Committee will receive a report from the Registered Public Accounting Firm (RPAF), PricewaterhouseCoopers, that contains all critical policies and practices to be used all alternative treatments of financial information within (GAAP) that have been discussed with management ramifications of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments, and the treatment preferred by the firm.

Outside Auditors

8. Recommend to the Board each year, a firm of independent certified public accountants to serve as McDermott s principal independent auditors. The outside auditor is accountable to the Board and the Committee which have the ultimate authority and responsibility to select, evaluate and nominate the outside auditor to be proposed for shareholder approval or ratification. The Board will not recommend a registered public accounting firm to perform an audit if the company s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, Controller (or equivalent) was employed by the audit firm and participated in the Company s audit during the one year period preceding the date of initiation of the current audit.

9. The Audit Committee shall pre-approve all non-audit services, except for de minimus exemptions. All non-audit services provided by the RPAF not expressly forbidden by The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (hereinafter referred to as the Act), including tax consulting work, will be pre-approved by the Audit Committee. Approval of non-audit functions will be required to be disclosed in the Company s periodic reports. The Act permits the delegation of pre-approved authority to one or more independent members of the Company s Audit Committee.

10. On an annual basis, after completion of the annual audit of the Company s consolidated financial statement included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K and prior to its filing, review with outside auditors any significant changes required in the examination plan; any serious difficulties or disputes with management encountered during the course of the audit; and other matters related to the conduct of the audit which are to be communicated to the Audit Committee under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS), including but not limited to discussions relating to the outside auditors judgment about such matters as the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company s accounting practices and other items set forth in SAS 61.

11. Annually approve the fees and other compensation to be paid to the outside auditor.

12. Require a formal written statement from the outside auditor consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1. The Committee is responsible for oversight of auditor independence and shall discuss annually with the outside auditor any relationships or services that may impact the auditor s independence, and take, or recommend to the full Board, actions to ensure that independence.

13. Discuss with the outside auditor the auditor s judgment about the quality of McDermott s accounting principles and the underlying estimates as required by SAS No. 90, *Audit Committee Communications*.

14. Require that the outside auditor communicates to the Committee (or be satisfied that management has communicated) with regard to their quarterly reviews any matters of the types described in SAS No. 61.

Internal Audit Function

15. The Committee shall review and approve the appointment, replacement, reassignment or dismissal of the Vice President of Internal Audit.

16. Annually review and approve the internal audit plan and discuss any subsequent changes in the scope of the audit plan.

17. Review the results of the internal audit process with management and the Vice President of Internal Audit including significant findings, management s responses thereto, and the status of corrective actions or implementation of recommendations.

18. Evaluate the activities, organizational structure, and qualifications of the internal audit department.

Table of Contents

Ethical and Legal Compliance

19. Review with McDermott s General Counsel any legal matter that could have a significant impact on the financial statements.

20. Review management s monitoring of compliance with McDermott s Code of Business Ethics and Conduct, and ensure that management has the proper review system in place to ensure that McDermott s financial statements, reports and other financial information disseminated to the public satisfy legal requirements.

21. The Audit Committee shall establish procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters and the confidential anonymous submission by employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

22. Audit Committee members are prohibited from taking any action to fraudulently influence, coerce, manipulate, or mislead any auditor engaged in the performance of an audit for the purpose of rendering the financial statements materially misleading.

Other

23. In addition to the activities described above, the Audit Committee will perform such other functions the Committee or the Board deems necessary or appropriate under law; the Company s articles of incorporation, by-laws and governing documents; and the resolutions and other directives of the Board of Directors. The duties and responsibilities of a member of the Audit Committee are in addition to those duties generally pertaining to a member of the Board of Directors.

24. The Audit Committee shall have the authority to engage independent counsel or other advisors, as it determines necessary to carry out its duties.

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

WEDNESDAY, MAY 7, 2003 9:30 A.M. HOTEL INTER-CONTINENTAL PELICAN I ROOM 444 ST. CHARLES AVENUE NEW ORLEANS, LOUISIANA

Dear Stockholder:

McDermott International, Inc. encourages you to vote your shares electronically through the Internet or the telephone 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. This eliminates the need to return the proxy card.

To vote your shares electronically you must use the voter control number printed in the box on the reverse side. The series of numbers that appear in the box must be used to access the system.

1. To vote over the Internet:

Log on the Internet and go to the web site

http://www.eproxyvote.com/mdr

2. To vote over the telephone:

On a touch-tone telephone call 1-877-PRX-VOTE (1-877-779-8683)

Outside of the U.S. and Canada call 201-536-8073. Your electronic vote authorizes the named proxies in the same manner as if you marked, signed, dated and returned the proxy card.

If you choose to vote your shares electronically, there is no need for you to mail back your proxy card.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. THANK YOU FOR VOTING.

PLEASE FOLD AND DETACH HERE IF YOU ARE NOT VOTING BY INTERNET OR TELEPHONE

PROXY

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The undersigned hereby appoints John T. Nesser, III and Francis S. Kalman, and each of them individually, as attorneys, agents and proxies of the undersigned, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to vote all the shares of common stock of McDermott International, Inc. (McDermott) that the undersigned may be entitled to vote at McDermott s Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 7, 2003, and at any adjournment or postponement of such meeting, as indicated on the reverse side hereof, with all powers which the undersigned would possess if personally present.

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of McDermott s Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and its Notice of 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and related Proxy Statement.

PLEASE MARK, SIGN AND DATE THE REVERSE SIDE OF THIS PROXY CARD AND PROMPTLY RETURN IT IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE.

SEE REVERSE SIDE

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC. C/O EQUISERVE TRUST COMPANY, N.A. P.O. BOX 8242 EDISON, NJ 08818-8242

THE EQUISERVE VOTE BY TELEPHONE AND VOTE BY INTERNET SYSTEMS CAN BE ACCESSED 24-HOURS A DAY, SEVEN DAYS A WEEK UNTIL 11:59 PM ON 5/6/03.

Voter Control Number

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. PLEASE VOTE IMMEDIATELY.

OR

 Vote-by-Internet (COMPUTER GRAPHIC)
 LOG ON TO THE INTERNET AND GO TO http://www.eproxyvote.com/mdr
 ENTER YOUR VOTER CONTROL NUMBER

2. LISTED ABOVE AND FOLLOW ABOVE AND THE EASY STEPS OUTLINED ON THE SECURED WEBSITE. Vote-by-Telephone (TELEPHONE GRAPHIC)

- 1. CALL TOLL-FREE 1-877-PRX-VOTE (1-877-779-8683)
- 2. ENTER YOUR VOTER CONTROL NUMBER LISTED FOLLOW THE EASY RECORDED INSTRUCTIONS.

IF YOU VOTE OVER THE INTERNET OR BY TELEPHONE, PLEASE DO NOT MAIL YOUR CARD.

PLEASE FOLD AND DETACH HERE IF YOU ARE NOT VOTING BY INTERNET OR TELEPHONE

[X]

PLEASE MARK VOTES AS IN THIS EXAMPLE.

IMPORTANT-PLEASE MARK APPROPRIATE BOXES ONLY IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS SHOWN ABOVE:

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.

1. Election of Directors:

Nominees as Class I Directors: 1. Philip		FOR	AGAINST	ABSTAIN
J. Burguieres,	2.Retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers			
2. Ronald C. Cambre, 3. Bruce DeMars	LLP as LLP as McDERMOTT s	[]	[]	[]
and	independent accountants for the year			
4. Bruce W. Wilkinson	ending 2003 (the Directors favor a vote			
	FOR).			
FOR WITHHOLD				

FOR	WITHHOLD
ALL	FROM
NOMINEES	ALL
[]	NOMINEES
	[]

[]

Mark here to discontinue annual report mailing for the account (for multiple account holders only).

r 1			
[]	FOR ALL NOMINEES EXC	EDT AS WDITTEN ABOVI	-
	FOR ALL NOMINEES EAC	ETTAS WRITTEN ABOVI	_
			Every properly signed Proxy will be voted in
			accordance with the specifications made thereon. IF
			NOT OTHERWISE SPECIFIED, THIS PROXY WILL
			BE VOTED FOR (1) THE ELECTION OF
			DIRECTORS, AND (2) THE RETENTION OF
			PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP AS
			McDERMOTT S INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS.
			THE PROXY HOLDERS NAMED ON THE
			REVERSE SIDE ALSO WILL VOTE IN THEIR
			DISCRETION ON ANY OTHER MATTER THAT
			MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING
Signature	Date:	Signature	Date:

NOTE: Signature(s) should agree with name(s) on stock certificates as specified hereon. Executors, administrators, trustees, etc., should indicate when signing. All proxies heretofore given by the signatory to vote at such meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof are hereby revoked.

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.

The Thrift Plan for Employees of McDermott Incorporated

and Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies

April 4, 2003

To those individuals (Plan Participants) who have an interest in McDermott International, Inc. (McDermott) common stock, par value \$1.00 per share (common stock), under The Thrift Plan for Employees of McDermott Incorporated and Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies (the Thrift Plan):

We would like to give Plan Participants having an interest in shares of common stock through the Thrift Plan the right to instruct The Vanguard Group, the trustee for the Thrift Plan (the Trustee), how to vote the shares of common stock representing their interest in the Thrift Plan.

In order that you may have the same information as a stockholder outside the Thrift Plan, we have enclosed a copy of the Notice of McDermott s Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the related Proxy Statement. This information is being mailed to all stockholders of record as of March 28, 2003. We are providing this material for your information. You do not need to return it.

Also enclosed is a voting instruction form with which you may instruct the Trustee how to vote your interest in shares of common stock in the Thrift Plan. *Please return this voting instruction form in the envelope provided as soon as possible*.

If the Trustee does not receive your instructions by May 1, 2003, the Trustee will vote your interest, in its discretion, in a manner consistent with its fiduciary responsibility under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 or other applicable legal requirements.

This letter and the enclosed materials relate only to your interest in shares of common stock under the Thrift Plan. They do not relate to any other shares of common stock which you may own. If you own other shares of common stock, you will receive proxy materials in a separate mailing, which should be returned in the envelope provided for that purpose.

Very truly yours,

Bruce W. Wilkinson Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

(THE VANGUARD GROUP LETTERHEAD)

- Please fold and detach card at perforation before mailing -

CONFIDENTIAL VOTING INSTRUCTIONS

TO: THE VANGUARD GROUP, TRUSTEE UNDER THE THRIFT PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES OF MCDERMOTT INCORPORATED AND PARTICIPATING SUBSIDIARY AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The undersigned participant in The Thrift Plan for Employees of McDermott Incorporated and Participating Subsidiary and Affiliated Companies (the Thrift Plan) hereby directs The Vanguard Group, the trustee of the Thrift Plan (the Trustee), to vote all the shares of common stock (common stock) of McDermott International, Inc. (McDermott) held in the undersigned s Thrift Plan account at McDermott s Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in the Pelican I Room of the Hotel Inter-Continental, 444 St. Charles Avenue, New Orleans, Louisiana, on Wednesday, May 7, 2003, at 9:30 a.m. local time, and at any adjournment or postponement of such meeting, as indicated on the reverse side of this voting instruction form.

Every properly signed voting instruction form will be voted in accordance with the specifications made thereon. If not otherwise specified, this voting instruction form will be voted FOR (1) the election of Directors and (2) the retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as McDermott s independent auditors.

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of McDermott s Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and its Notice of 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and related Proxy Statement.

Dated _____, 2003

SIGNATURE (PLEASE SIGN IN BOX)

NOTE: Signature should be the same as the name on your Thrift Plan account. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, trustee, guardian or other similar capacity, please give full title as such. The person signing below hereby revokes all instructions heretofore given by such person to vote the shares of common stock held in such person s Thrift Plan account at such meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof

- Please fold and detach card at perforation before mailing -

PLEASE FILL IN BOX(ES) AS SHOWN USING BLACK OR BLUE INK. [X] PLEASE DO NOT USE FINE POINT PENS.

 Nominees as Class I Directors: (01) Philip J. Burguieres, (02) Ronald C. Cambre, (03) Bruce DeMars and 	FOR ALL NOMINEES, EXCEPT AS SPECIFIED AT LEFT		WITHHOLD AUTHORITY FOR ALL NOMINEES
(04) Bruce W. Wilkinson INSTRUCTION: TO WITHHOLD AUTHORITY TO VOTE FOR ANY INDIVIDUAL NOMINEE, WRITE THAT NOMINEE S NAME IN THE SPACE PROVIDED BELOW:	[]		[]
2. Retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as McDermott s independent accountants for the year ending December 31, 2003 (the Directors favor a vote FOR) PLEASE SIGN AND DATE THE FRONT SIDE OF THIS VOTING INSTRU	FOR [] CTION FORM	AGAINST	ABSTAIN []
AND PROMPTLY RETURN IT IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOP	Ϋ́Ε.		

McDERMOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC.

The Thrift Plan for Salaried Employees of Babcock & Wilcox Canada

April 4, 2003

To those individuals (Plan Participants) who have an interest in McDermott International, Inc. common stock, par value \$1.00 per share (common stock), under The Thrift Plan for Salaried Employees of Babcock & Wilcox Canada (the Thrift Plan):

We would like to give Plan Participants having an interest in shares of common stock through the Thrift Plan the right to instruct BMO Trust Company, the trustee for the Thrift Plan (the Trustee), how to vote the shares of common stock representing their interest in the Thrift Plan. The proxy mailing and tabulation will be coordinated through the Trustee s agent, ICS Shareholder Communications.

In order that you may have the same information as a stockholder outside the Thrift Plan, we have enclosed a copy of the Notice of McDermott International, Inc. s Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the related Proxy Statement. This information is being mailed to all stockholders of record as of March 28, 2003. We are providing this material for your information. You do not need to return it.

Also enclosed is a voting instruction form with which you may instruct the Trustee s agent how to vote your interest in shares of common stock in the Thrift Plan. *Please return this voting instruction form in the envelope provided as soon as possible.*

If the Trustee s agent does not receive your instructions by 10 a.m., May 2, 2003, the Trustee will not vote your shares.

This letter and the enclosed materials relate only to your interest in shares of common stock under the Thrift Plan. They do not relate to any other shares of common stock which you may own. If you own other shares of common stock, you will receive proxy materials in a separate mailing, which should be returned in the envelope provided for that purpose.

Very truly yours,

Bruce W. Wilkinson Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Table of Contents

CONFIDENTIAL VOTING INSTRUCTIONS

TO: BMO TRUST COMPANY, TRUSTEE

UNDER THE THRIFT PLAN FOR SALARIED EMPLOYEES OF BABCOCK & WILCOX CANADA

The undersigned participant in The Thrift Plan for Salaried Employees of Babcock & Wilcox Canada (the Thrift Plan) hereby directs BMO Trust Company, the trustee for the Thrift Plan (the Trustee), to vote all the shares of common stock (common stock) of McDermott International, Inc. (McDermott) held in the undersigned s Thrift Plan account at McDermott s Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in the Pelican I Room of the Hotel Inter-Continental, 444 St. Charles Avenue, New Orleans, Louisiana, on Wednesday, May 7, 2003, at 9:30 a.m. local time, and at any adjournment or postponement of such meeting.

Every properly signed voting instruction form will be voted in accordance with the specifications made thereon. If not otherwise specified, this voting instruction form will be voted FOR (1) the election of Directors and (2) the retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as McDermott s independent auditors.

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of McDermott s Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and its Notice of 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and related Proxy Statement.

PLEASE MARK APPROPRIATE BOXES (0) IN BLACK OR BLUE INK AND SIGN AND DATE WHERE INDICATED BELOW AND PROMPTLY RETURN THIS VOTING INSTRUCTION FORM IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE.

IF YOU DO NOT INDICATE HOW YOU WANT YOUR SHARES VOTED, AND IF THE VOTING INSTRUCTION FORM IS NOT SIGNED BELOW, WE WILL NOT VOTE YOUR SHARES.

1. Election of Directors:

Nominees as Class I Directors: 1. Philip J. Burguieres, 2. Ronald C. Cambre, 3. Bruce DeMars and 4. Bruce W. Wilkinson.

0	FOR	0	WITHHOLD AUTHORITY
	all nominees, except as specified below		for all nominees

(INSTRUCTION: To withhold authority to vote for any individual nominee(s), write the nominee(s) name in the space provided below:

2. Retention of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as McDermott s independent accountants for the year ending December 31, 2003 (the Directors favor a vote FOR).

o FOR o AGAINST o ABSTAIN

, 2003

NOTE: Signature should be the same as the name on your Thrift Plan account. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, trustee, guardian or other similar capacity, please give full title as such. The person signing below hereby revokes all instructions heretofore given by such person to vote the shares of common stock held in such person s Thrift Plan account at such meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

BGCOLOR="#cdd5e2" STYLE="page-break-inside:avoid ; font-family:ARIAL; font-size:8pt">

Terry P. Hatten⁽¹⁾

SVP, Human Resources

Rob J. Chumley

SVP, Marketing

365,000

420,000

385,000

Daryl R. Schofield⁽¹⁾

Former EVP, Fuels

510,000

(1) The 2018 salaries for Messrs. Hatten who joined the Company in June 2018 and Schofield whose employment with the Company ended on July 2, 2018 reflect annualized base salary rates. Actual salaries received are included in the Summary Compensation Table on page 27.

B. Annual Incentive Plan

We provide annual incentives for our executive officers through our stockholder-approved Murphy USA Inc. 2013 Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective as of February 7, 2019 (the AIP). The primary objective of the AIP is to align corporate and individual goals with stockholder interests and Company strategy and to reward employees for their performance relative to those goals. Murphy USA targets the median of market pay levels for annual target incentive compensation. Executives have the opportunity to be compensated above the median of market pay levels when Murphy USA outperforms established performance measures.

Target bonus opportunities under the AIP are expressed as a percentage of annualized base salary. The Committee reviews market data annually with respect to competitive pay levels and sets specific bonus opportunities for each of our NEOs. The following table shows target bonuses as a percentage of salary in effect for each of the NEOs in 2018:

Target Bonus

as a

Name	Title	% of Salary
R. Andrew Clyde	President & CEO	115
Mindy K. West	EVP Fuels, CFO & Treasurer	75
John A. Moore	SVP & General Counsel	60
Terry P. Hatten	SVP, Human Resources	60
Rob J. Chumley	SVP, Marketing	65
Daryl R. Schofield ⁽¹⁾	Former EVP, Fuels	85

(1) Mr. Schofield s employment with the company ended in July 2018; pursuant to his separation agreement, Mr. Schofield was not eligible for an AIP payment related to 2018 performance.

Each NEO s actual AIP bonus payment is determined by multiplying their target bonus amount by the corporate performance weighted performance score, as described below. The Committee may then exercise negative discretion to reduce an NEO s bonus payout based

on subjective individual criteria. The NEO s actual AIP bonus payment may not exceed 200% of their target amount, which reflects the maximum weighted performance score that may be achieved.

2018 Corporate Performance

For 2018, as in 2016 and 2017, the AIP metrics for the Company consisted of return on average capital employed (ROACE), profitability as measured by Fuel Cash Breakeven and corporate goals and

objectives (Corporate Goals) outlined below. All participants, including our NEOs, were subject to the same performance metrics with the same Threshold, Target and Maximum levels for each metric. Under

MURPHY USA INC. 21

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued)

the terms of the AIP, achievement of 100% of the Target for ROACE or Fuel Cash Breakeven results in the payment of 100% of target for that metric. Achievement of the Threshold level of the performance range for ROACE or Fuel Cash Breakeven results in the payment of 50% of target and achievement of the Maximum level of performance for ROACE or Fuel Cash Breakeven results in the payment of 200% of target. No awards are payable for ROACE or Fuel Cash Breakeven if performance for that metric falls below the Threshold achievement level. Results between points are interpolated. The Committee believes the combination of these metrics reflected the overall key goals and objectives for the Company for 2018.

For 2018, the AIP metrics were achieved at 137.6% of Target (112.0% of Target for ROACE; 172.0% of Target for Fuel Cash Breakeven; and 120.0% of Target for the Corporate Goals), as described in more detail below.

The following table summarizes the ROACE, Fuel Cash Breakeven and Corporate Goals performance metrics and corresponding weightings used in determining annual incentive award payouts for our NEOs and the weighted performance scores for each based on actual performance during 2018:

						Payout	Weighted
		Threshold	Target	Maximum		% of	Performance
	Weighting	(50%	(100%	(200%		Target	Score
Metric	(%)	Payout)	Payout)	Payout)	Actual	(%)	(%)
ROACE (%) ⁽¹⁾	40	9.0	12.5	15.0	12.8	112.0	44.8
Fuel Cash Breakeven							
	40	1.25	1.00	0.75	0.82	172.0	68.8
(cents per gallon) ⁽²⁾							
Corporate Goals ⁽³⁾	20		See Detail	s in Note 3		120.0	24.0
Total	100						137.6

(1)ROACE is computed by dividing the Company s earnings before interest and taxes, as adjusted from time to time for certain unusual and nonrecurring gains or losses, by the sum of (a) the average of the Company s beginning and ending balance of property, plant and equipment during the respective year and (b) the average of the Company s beginning and ending net working capital position during the respective year.

- (2) Fuel Cash Breakeven is computed by dividing merchandise gross margin dollars, less total site operating costs and retail administrative costs, by total retail gallons of fuel sold.
- (3)20% of the AIP payout is determined based on the Company s performance relative to the 2018 Corporate Goals. The five Corporate Goals chosen for 2018 were assessed and approved by the Committee. The Corporate Goals were designed to drive our 5-Point Strategy described on page 17. Performance against the Corporate Goals is determined based on a scorecard where each of the five goals, weighted equally, can receive four points for Target performance, and up to eight points for Maximum performance. If all of the Corporate Goals are achieved at Maximum performance, the total score for the Corporate Goals would be 40 points, or 200% of target. In cases where performance is deemed not acceptable, it will be scored below Threshold and points may be deducted from the total weighted performance score.

The Target level goals (shown below) can be characterized as strong performance, meaning that based on historical performance, although attainment of this performance level is uncertain, it can be reasonably anticipated that Target performance may be achieved, while the Threshold goals are more likely to be achieved and the Maximum goals represent more aggressive levels of performance. The Committee reviewed performance against the Corporate Goals and determined that actual performance resulted in achievement of 120.0% of the Target in aggregate. Actual results achieved versus each of the Corporate Goals is illustrated below:

	Weighting	Actual Weighted ThresholflargeVIaximum Performance Target (100% Below(0% (100% (200% Score	e
Corporate Goals	(%)	Payout) Thres Prak dout Payout Payout) %	
Organic Growth: New Site Growth Number of new sites opened for operation (including raze and rebuilds)	4	50 to 52	
Organic Growth: Retail Fuel Volume Growth Thousands of gallons (APSM) for all stores in full month of operation	4	240 to 245	
Diversify Merchandise Mix: Merchandise Gross Margin Thousands of dollars APSM gross margin for all	4	22.75 to 23.25	

stores in full month of operation

Sustain Cost Leadership Position: Site Operating Expense Cost Management 4 20.2 to 20.6 Thousands of dollars APSM for site operating 4 20.2 to 20.6 costs (excluding credit card fees) 4 4	
Create Advantage from Market Volatility: Fuel,PS&W & RINs Contribution415.25 to 16.25Total cpg on retail equivalent volume basis	
Total 20.0	24.0

22 MURPHY USA INC.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Individual Performance

In addition to the corporate performance component, the AIP permits the Committee to exercise negative discretion to reduce an NEO s award based on the Committee s subjective review of his or her performance relative to the achievement of the metrics outlined above, business plan execution and other qualitative results. We believe that it is important to include this component in our AIP in order to take into account NEO performance that, in the Committee s opinion, justifies a reduction in the amount otherwise payable to an NEO based on objective corporate performance. Overall, amounts earned under the AIP cannot exceed 200% of target. In 2018, the Committee believed that our NEOs individual performance was appropriately reflected in our corporate performance results. Thus, the Committee opted not to make any negative adjustments to the awards earned by our NEOs and payable under the AIP based on our corporate performance.

Overall Performance and Payouts

After certifying the results relative to our performance metrics and considering each individual s contributions throughout the year, the Committee approved the following payments for our NEOs for 2018:

			Actual
	Bonus Target	AIP %	Bonus
Name	(\$)	Achieved	(\$)
R. Andrew Clyde	1,219,000	137.6	1,677,344
Mindy K. West	435,000	137.6	598,560
John A. Moore	252,000	137.6	346,752
Terry P. Hatten ⁽¹⁾	140,226	137.6	192,992
Rob J. Chumley	250,250	137.6	344,344

(1)Reflects pro-rata target and actual bonus amounts for Mr. Hatten based on the period of service with the Company commencing in June 2018.

C. Long-Term Incentive Compensation

We provide share-based, long-term compensation to our executive officers through our stockholder-approved Murphy USA Inc. 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective as of February 9, 2017 (the LTIP). Long-term incentive levels for Murphy USA s officers are targeted at the median of competitive market pay levels. The plan provides for a variety of stock and share-based awards, including stock options and RSUs, each of which vests over a period determined by the Committee, as well as PSUs that are earned based on the Company s achievement of two equally-weighted objective performance goals. We believe that these awards create a powerful link between the creation of stockholder value and executive pay delivered. In addition, we believe that the balance between absolute and relative performance achieved through the use of stock options, ROACE-based PSUs and relative TSR-based PSUs is appropriate. In order for executives to fully realize their targeted opportunities, Murphy USA must both successfully achieve its long-term goals and outperform its peers.

25%		50%
Provide a direct link etween executive officer ompensation and the alue delivered to	25% Drive behaviors to creat value for stockholders by linking executive compensation to stock	
tockholders Inherently erformance-based, as ption holders only ealize benefits if the alue of our stock ncreases following the rant date	price performance Encourage retention Result in actual share ownership (thereby supporting the Company s stock ownership guidelines)	Reinforce the critical objective of building stockholder value over the long term Focus management attention upon the execution of the long-term business strategy
J/A	N/A	50% ROACE 50% TSR relative to c peer group
even years	Three years	Three years
Vest in two equal nstallments on the econd and third nniversaries of the grant ate	Cliff vest on the third anniversary of the grant date	Cliff vest after three years upon certification of results
	etween executive officer ompensation and the alue delivered to ockholders Inherently erformance-based, as otion holders only valize benefits if the alue of our stock acreases following the rant date //A	etween executive officer ompensation and the alue delivered to oockholdersvalue for stockholders by linking executive compensation to stock price performanceInherently erformance-based, as ption holders only alize benefits if the alue of our stock acreases following the rant dateEncourage retention Result in actual share ownership (thereby supporting the Company s stock ownership guidelines)//AN/A//AN/Aeven yearsThree yearsest in two equal ustallments on the excond and third nniversaries of the grantCliff vest on the third anniversary of the grant date

Payout

Upon exercise, participant acquires net common shares at the previously defined exercise price Participant acquires unrestricted shares of common stock upon vesting Payment made in unrestricted shares of common stock at the end of three years upon approval of performance results by the Committee

Payouts at 50% of target for threshold level of performance

Maximum payouts capped at 200% of target

MURPHY USA INC. 23

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Performance Stock Units

Vesting for 50% of the PSUs will be based on Murphy USA s TSR performance between 2018 and 2020 relative to the Company s peer group. The Committee considers relative TSR an appropriate metric as it aligns the pay for our officers to the appreciation (or reduction) our stockholders receive in their investment in Murphy USA. TSR achievement and corresponding payout levels are as follows:

	Percentile	Payout
Achievement	Rank Relative	% of
Level	to Peers	Target ⁽¹⁾
	th	
Maximum	³ 75	200
	th	
Target	50	100
	th	
Threshold	25	50
	th	
Below Threshold	<25	0

(1)Payout will be interpolated on a linear basis for performance between levels of achievement Vesting for the remaining 50% of the PSUs will be based on Murphy USA s three-year average ROACE performance between 2018 and

2020 as compared to the Company s three-year ROACE target set by the Committee at the beginning of the performance period.

Earned Amounts of 2016 to 2018 PSUs

In February 2019, the Committee certified the performance results for the 2016 PSUs for the three-year performance period that ended December 31, 2018. Under the provisions of these awards, the PSUs were subject to two equally-weighted metrics, ROACE and TSR relative to our peer group. As a result of the Company s strong performance, the PSUs were earned at 165.0% of target.

The following table summarizes the final performance metrics and corresponding weightings used in determining the number of PSUs earned and the weighted performance scores for each based on actual performance during the three-year period:

						Payout	Weighted
	,	Threshold	Target	Maximum		% of	Performance
	Weighting	(50%	(100%	(200%		Target	Score
Metric	(%)	Payout)	Payout)	Payout)	Actual	(%)	(%)
ROACE (%)	50	9.0	12.0	15.0	12.9	130.0	65.0
Relative TSR (Percentile Rank)		th	th	th			
	50	<25	50	75	84.6	200.0	100.0
Total	100						165.0%

D. Employee Benefits and Perquisites

Murphy USA s executives are provided usual and customary employee benefits available to all employees (except certain hourly retail employees). These include a qualified defined contribution plan (401(k)) (Savings Plan), health insurance, life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, medical and dental insurance, vision insurance and long-term disability insurance.

The purpose of the Savings Plan, a tax-qualified defined contribution retirement plan, is to provide retirement benefits for all the employees of Murphy USA who participate. All employees are allowed to contribute on a pre-tax basis up to 25 percent of their eligible pay. The Company matches contributions, dollar-for-dollar, up to the first six percent of base pay. Participating employees, including the NEOs, are immediately vested in all employee and Company-matched contributions.

Murphy USA provides a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (Murphy USA SERP), a nonqualified deferred compensation plan, to eligible executives, including the NEOs. The Murphy USA SERP is intended to restore qualified defined contribution (Savings Plan and profit-sharing) plan benefits restricted under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the IRC) to certain highly-compensated individuals. The Company funded the SERP in 2018 through the use of a rabbi trust. The Company s obligations under the SERP are recorded in the financial statements and in the event of the Company s bankruptcy or insolvency, the assets held by the rabbi trust could become subject to the claims of the Company s creditors.

Murphy USA offers limited perquisites to our NEOs consistent with our peer group. The Board of Directors has authorized up to 50 hours annually of personal use of Company aircraft for our CEO as part of his total compensation package. The value of such personal use is periodically reported to the Committee and will be reported as taxable income to the CEO, with no income tax assistance or gross-ups provided by the Company.

Reportable values for such personal use is based on the incremental costs to the Company, as provided in the All Other Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table included on page 27 in this Proxy Statement.

E. Discretionary Award

We maintain the discretion to award additional compensation to our executive officers. In July 2018, we awarded Ms. West a one-time special cash bonus in the amount of \$25,000 in recognition of her expanded role as our Executive Vice President, Fuels, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer.

Other Policies

Severance and Change-in-Control Protection

The Company has not entered into any employment, CIC or termination agreements with its NEOs, other than with the CEO.

Mr. Clyde is party to a Severance Protection Agreement (the SPA). The SPA provides Mr. Clyde with certain severance benefits if his

24 MURPHY USA INC.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued)

employment is terminated under certain circumstances within 24 months following a CIC. If Mr. Clyde s employment is terminated by Murphy USA without cause or by Mr. Clyde for good reason within this 24-month window, Mr. Clyde will be entitled to his earned but unpaid compensation, a lump-sum severance payment equal to three times the sum of his base salary and the average of his last three annual bonuses prior to the termination date (or, if higher, prior to the CIC), accelerated vesting of his outstanding equity-based awards (provided that any performance-based awards will be paid assuming the target level of performance), and continued life, accident and health insurance benefits for 36 months. Mr. Clyde will not be entitled to any golden parachute excise tax gross-up payments. The SPA provides for an excise tax cut back to reduce payments to a level such that the excise tax under Sections 280G and 4999 of the IRC will not apply (unless the executive would receive a greater amount of severance benefits on an after-tax basis without a cutback, in which case the cutback would not apply). Pursuant to the SPA, Mr. Clyde will be subject to a non-disclosure covenant and non-solicitation and non-competition restrictive covenants for 12 months following any such termination.

Mr. Schofield s employment with the Company ended on July 2, 2018. In consideration of a release of claims against the Company and his agreement to certain restrictive covenants, Mr. Schofield received a cash payment equal to six months of his base salary (\$262,500), a lump sum cash payment of \$560,000 for transition and advisory services, \$3,500 for legal fees, and reimbursement for continuing health insurance premiums under COBRA through June 30, 2019.

Under the terms of the LTIP, in the event of a CIC, all outstanding equity awards will vest, become immediately exercisable or payable and have all restrictions lifted (any performance-based awards will be paid assuming the target level of performance.).

Stock Ownership Guidelines

To further align the interests of our executive officers with those of our stockholders, the Board of Directors expects all executive officers to display confidence in the Company through the ownership of a significant amount of our stock. Under these guidelines as set forth in the Company s Corporate Governance Guidelines, executive officers, including our NEOs, are expected to hold Murphy USA common stock having a value that is equivalent to a multiple of each executive officer s annualized base salary within five years of assuming their position. The targeted multiples vary among the executives depending upon their position:

CEO: 5x annual salary EVPs: 3x annual salary SVPs: 2x annual salary

VPs: 1x annual salary

Because the stock ownership guidelines are a multiple of each executive officer s annualized salary, the value that must be maintained will

increase proportionally with salary increases. Executive officers are expected to achieve targets within five years of assuming their positions. Shares owned directly by the executive, including RSUs and unrestricted stock units, those owned indirectly, assuming the executive has an economic interest in the shares, and shares held through our employee benefit plans, including the Savings Plan and deferred compensation plan for executives, are included in calculating ownership levels. Shares underlying stock options and unearned PSUs do not count toward the ownership guidelines. At December 31, 2018, all of our NEOs had met or were on track to comply with these stock ownership guidelines within the applicable five-year period.

Likewise, each member of our Board of Directors is expected to achieve ownership of at least three times their annual cash retainer within five years of service as discussed in the Compensation of Directors section of this Proxy Statement on page 11. As noted above, at December 31, 2018, all of our directors had met or were on track to comply with these stock ownership guidelines within the applicable five-year period.

The Committee will periodically assess these guidelines, monitor director and executive officer ownership levels relative to these guidelines and make recommendations as appropriate.

Pledging Policy

A director or executive officer may not pledge Company securities, either by purchasing Company securities on margin or holding Company securities in a margin account, until he or she has achieved the applicable stock ownership target specified in the guidelines above. All of our directors and executive officers are in compliance with our pledging policy.

Prohibition on Hedging

To ensure that Murphy USA executive officers, including our NEOs, bear the full risks of Murphy USA common stock ownership, the Company has adopted a policy that prohibits all employees from entering into hedging transactions that are designed to hedge or speculate on any change in the market value of the Company s securities.

Recoupment and Clawback Policy

Our officers are subject to recoupment provisions in both the AIP and LTIP programs in the case of certain forfeiture events. If the Company restates its financial statements as a result of negligent, intentional or gross misconduct by the recipient, the Committee may, in its discretion, require that the recipient reimburse the Company with respect to any shares issued or payments made under the AIP or the LTIP in the period covered by the restated financial statements.

Tax Policy

Section 162(m) of the IRC generally limits the tax deductibility of compensation paid to certain NEOs to \$1 million annually. Prior to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) that was signed into law December 22, 2017, Section 162(m) provided an exception from this

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued)

limitation for qualified performance-based compensation, and the Committee considered the impact of the tax deductibility limitation when making compensation decisions and certain elements of the Company s incentive compensation program were structured to meet this exception.

The TCJA repealed the qualified performance-based compensation exception, effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017. The TCJA provides transition relief for certain contractual arrangements in place as of November 2, 2017, if certain requirements are met. The Committee has and will continue to retain the flexibility to design and maintain the executive compensation programs in a manner that is most beneficial to stockholders, including the payment of compensation that is subject to the deduction limits under Section 162(m).

Role of the Compensation Consultant

The Committee has retained Mercer (US) Inc. (Mercer) as its independent compensation consultant. Mercer provides executive and director compensation consulting services to the Committee, regularly attends Committee meetings, reports directly to the Committee on matters relating to compensation for our NEOs and participates in executive sessions without management present. Mercer provides advice and analyses to the Committee on the design and level of executive and director compensation. In connection with their services to the Committee, Mercer works with executive management and the corporate human resources team to formalize proposals for the Committee. The Committee has assessed the independence of Mercer pursuant to SEC rules and concluded that Mercer s work for the Committee does not raise any conflicts of interest.

Compensation-Based Risk Assessment

In February 2019, the Committee completed a review of the Company s policies and practices of compensating its employees (including non-executives) as they relate to the Company s risk management profile to determine whether these policies and practices create risks that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company. As a result of this review, the Committee concluded that any risks arising from the Company s compensation policies and practices for its employees were not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Compensation Committee Report

The Executive Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the foregoing Compensation Discussion and Analysis. Based on the review and discussions, the Executive Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the Company s Proxy Statement.

- Executive Compensation Committee
- Claiborne P. Deming (Chair)
- Fred L. Holliger
- James W. Keyes
- David B. Miller
- R. Madison Murphy

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Executive Compensation

Further information with respect to the compensation paid to the NEOs is set forth in the following tables:

2018 Summary Compensation Table

Change in

Pension Value

						a Non-Equity	and Nonqualified	t	
							Deferred		
				Stock	Option	Incentive Plan	Compensation	All Other	
Name and rincipal		Salary	Bonus	Awards ⁽¹⁾	Awards ⁽²⁾	Compensation ^{(.}	⁽³⁾ Earnings ⁽⁴⁾ Co	ompensation ⁽⁵⁾	Total
osition	Year	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)
	2018 2017	1,057,500 1,027,500		2,100,840 2,746,022	665,088 800,310	1,677,344		437,399 339,597	5,938,171 5,777,908
R. Andrew lyde									
President & hief									
Executive fficer	2016	991,667		2,665,370	770,232	1,364,000		403,929	6,195,198
	2018	578,917	25,000 ⁽⁶⁾	574,000	181,860	598,560		123,110	2,081,447
Mindy K. /est	2017 2016	565,583 546,083		757,134 734,234	220,935 212,256		295,006 34,618	110,968 116,395	2,273,281 2,151,444

		- 9-							
Executive ice resident, Fuels, hief inancial Officer & reasurer									
John A. Ioore Senior ice	2018	419,417		275,520	88,332	346,752		108,633	1,238,654
resident & General	2017	413,000		372,917	106,605	189,071	150,432	78,920	1,310,945
ounsel	2016	412,250		422,436	122,208	307,272	19,033	84,722	1,367,921
Ferry P. atten ⁽⁷⁾ Senior ice resident, Human esources	2018	233,760		218,400	69,280	192,992		23,418	737,850
Robert J. humley Senior ice resident, Marketing	2018	383,333		275,520	88,332	344,344		55,639	1,147,168
	2018 2017	263,522 336,159	100,000	585,480 1,186,273	187,056	218,016		877,402 167,406	1,913,460 2,007,854

Daryl R. chofield⁽⁸⁾

Former xecutive ice

President, uels

- (1) The amounts shown represent the grant date fair value of both PSU and RSU awards granted in 2016, 2017 and 2018 as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures, as more fully described in the Incentive Plans footnote to the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2018. Amounts shown relating to PSUs were calculated based on the probable outcome of performance conditions as of the grant date, which was the target level, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures. If the maximum payout were shown for the PSUs, the expense amounts that would be recognized would be: \$2,100,840 for Mr. Clyde, \$574,000 for Ms. West, \$275,520 for Mr. Moore, \$218,400 for Mr. Hatten, \$275,520 for Mr. Chumley and \$585,480 for Mr. Schofield, although the value of the actual payout to the NEO would depend on the stock price at the time of the payout. If the minimum payout were used, the amounts for PSUs would be reduced to zero. RSUs are generally forfeited if grantee s employment terminates for any reason other than retirement, death or full disability. The awards generally vest three years from the date of grant. There is no assurance that the value realized by each NEO will be at or near the value included in the table. PSUs are forfeited if grantee s employment terminates for any reason other than retirement, death or full disability. The awards vest three years from the date of grant based on the Company s performance relative to two equally-weighted metrics, ROACE and TSR relative to its peers. There is no assurance that the value realized by the executive will be at or near the value included in the table.
- (2) The amounts shown represent the grant date fair value as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures, as more fully

described in the Incentive Plans footnote to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2016, December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2018. Options granted generally vest in two equal installments on the second and third anniversaries of the grant date. The options are exercisable for a period of seven years from the date of grant. The actual value, if any, an executive may realize will depend on the excess of the stock price over the exercise price on the date the option is exercised. There is no assurance that the value realized by each NEO will be at or near the value disclosed.

- (3) Amounts shown for 2018 reflect payments under our AIP, which were paid in February 2019. Amounts shown for 2017 reflect payments under our AIP, which were paid in February 2018. Amounts shown for 2016 reflect payments under our AIP, which were paid in February 2017.
- (4) The amounts shown in this column reflect for Ms. West and Mr. Moore the annual change in accumulated benefits under their accounts in the Murphy Oil Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (Murphy Oil SERP), liability for which was assumed by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-Off. See Pension Benefits Table included on page 31 in this Proxy Statement for more information. There are no deferred compensation earnings reported in this column, as the Company's non-qualified deferred compensation plans do not provide above-market or preferential earnings. See the 2018 Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Table included on page 31 in this Proxy Statement for more information. Where the annual change in accumulated benefits was negative, it was excluded from this column and from the Summary Compensation Table Total column. For 2018, the annual change in accumulated benefits were negative for both Ms. West- (56,904) and Mr. Moore- (27,480).

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Executive Compensation (continued)

(5) We offer limited perquisites to our NEOs which, together with Company contributions to our qualified savings and nonqualified defined contribution plans, comprise the All Other Compensation column. In 2018, the total amounts were as follows:

Total Contribution

to DC Plans^(a) Term Life^(b)Other^(c)

Name	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)
R. Andrew Clyde	230,855	594	205,950
Mindy K. West	109,876	594	12,640
John A. Moore	89,989	594	18,050
Terry P. Hatten	12,600	149	10,669
Robert J. Chumley	55,045	594	
Daryl R. Schofield	34,575	322	842,505

(a)Company contributions to qualified and nonqualified defined contribution plans.

- (b)Benefit attributable to Company-provided term life insurance policy.
- (c)For Mr. Clyde, the amount shown includes \$186,950, for personal use of corporate aircraft based on the aggregate incremental cost to the Company is calculated by multiplying, for each trip, the statutory miles times the 12-month average direct cost per statutory mile for the airplane used. The direct costs utilized in the calculation include: travel expenses for the aviation crew, communications expenses, landing fees, fuel and lubrication, contract maintenance and repairs, and the provision allocated for the overhaul of the

engines. For Mr. Clyde, Ms. West and Mr. Moore, includes contributions made on their behalf to charitable organizations under the Company s gift matching program (\$19,000, \$12,640 and \$18,050, respectively). For Mr. Hatten, includes relocation assistance (\$10,669). For Mr. Schofield, the amount shown includes severance payments (\$842,505, including payments received in consideration of a release of claims against the Company and agreement to certain restrictive covenants, of \$262,500 and a lump sum cash payment of \$560,000 for transition and advisory services, \$3,500 for legal fees, and \$16,505 reimbursement for continuing health insurance premiums under COBRA through June 30, 2019).

Reflects payment of a special bonus awarded to Ms. West in recognition of her expanded role as Executive Vice President, Fuels, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer.

- (7)Mr. Hatten joined the Company in June 2018; his compensation for 2018 reflects his partial year of employment. Mr. Hatten received prorated long-term incentive awards in connection with his June 2018 hiring.
- (8)Mr. Schofield separated from the Company on July 2, 2018. All unvested equity awards held by Mr. Schofield at the time of his separation were forfeited, including the remaining portion of his make whole award (8,953 RSUs) and all annual equity awards.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2018

The following table provides information regarding both equity and non-equity incentive plan awards granted to each NEO during 2018. All awards are described in more detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section beginning on page 16 in this Proxy Statement.

All Other

		Р	stimated Fut Payouts Unde Non-Equity tive Plan Aw	er		Under Equity	e Payouts	Awards	Other	Exercise or Base	
								of	Awards:	Price of	Grant Date
								Shares	Number of	Option	Fair Value of Stock
									Securities	s or	and
								or	Underlyin	g Stock	Option
	Grant	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Threshold	Target	Maximun	nUnits ⁽³⁾	Options	Awards	Awards ⁽⁴⁾
Name	Date	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(#)	(#)	(#)	(#)	(#)	(\$/Sh)	(\$)
R. Andrew Clyde	02/07/18 02/07/18 02/07/18	609,500	1,219,000	2,438,000	9,150	18,300	36,600	9,150	38,400	71.00	1,451,190 649,650 665,088
Mindy K. West	02/07/18 02/07/18 02/07/18	217,500	435,000	870,000	2,500	5,000	10,000	2,500	10,500	71.00	396,500 177,500 181,860
John A. Moore	02/07/18 02/07/18 02/07/18	126,000	252,000	504,000	1,200	2,400	4,800	1,200	5,100	71.00	190,320 85,200 88,332
		70,113	140,226	280,452							

Terry P.											
Hatten ⁽⁵⁾											
	06/12/18				1,000	2,000	4,000				145,600
	06/12/18							1,000			72,800
	06/12/18								4,000	72.80	69,280
Robert J.											
Chumley		125,125	250,250	500,500							
	02/07/18				1,200	2,400	4,800				190,320
	02/07/18							1,200			85,200
	02/07/18								5,100	71.00	88,332
Daryl R.											
Schofield ⁽⁶⁾		223,125	446,250	892,500							
	02/07/18				2,550	5,100	10,200				404,430
	02/07/18							2,550			181,050
	02/07/18								10,800	71.00	187,056

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Executive Compensation (continued)

- (1) Threshold and maximum awards are based on the provisions in our AIP. Actual awards earned can range from 0 to 200 percent of the target awards. The Committee retains the authority to make awards under the program and to use its judgment in adjusting awards downward. Actual payouts for 2018 are reflected in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table included in this Proxy Statement.
- (2) Threshold and maximum awards are based on the provisions of the PSU award agreements. Actual PSU awards earned can range from 0 to 200 percent of the target awards.
- (3) Amounts include time-based RSUs, which generally cliff-vest three years after their grant date.
- (4) The amounts in this column in respect of the RSUs, PSUs and stock option awards reflect their aggregate grant-date fair values, calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the effect of estimated forfeitures. The amounts in this column in respect of the PSUs were calculated based on the probable outcome of the performance condition as of the grant date, which is at the target level, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For option awards, these amounts represent the grant-date fair value of the option awards using a Black-Scholes-Merton based methodology. The actual value realized by each NEO for these equity awards depends on market prices at the time of exercise. There is no assurance that the value realized by each NEO will be at or near the value included in the table. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are more fully described in the Incentive Plans footnote to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
- (5)Mr. Hatten joined the Company in June 2018; his bonus target for 2018 reflects his partial year of employment. Mr. Hatten received pro-rated long-term incentive awards in connection with his June 2018 hiring.
- (6)Mr. Schofield separated from the Company on July 2, 2018. All unvested equity awards held by Mr. Schofield at the time of his separation were forfeited, including the remaining portion of his make whole award (8,953 RSUs) and all annual equity awards.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Executive Compensation (continued)

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End 2018

The following table illustrates outstanding Murphy USA equity awards (stock options, RSUs and PSUs) for each NEO as of December 31, 2018.

			Option A	Awards			Stock	Awards Equity	Equity
							Ι	ncentive Pla	Incentive Plan
								Awards:	Awards:
							Market	Number of	Market or
		Number				Number of	Value	Unearned	Payout Value
			Number of			Shares or		Shares,	of Unearned
		Securities	Securities			Units of	or	Units	Shares, Units
		Underlyin	ynderlying			Stock	Units of	or Other	or Other
	I	Unexercis	thexercised	Option	Option	That	Stock	Rights That	Rights That
		Options	Options 1	Exercise	Expiration		That Have	Have Not	Have Not
Name	Grant Date	Exercis abh (#)	e xercisable (#)	e ⁽ Price (\$)	(mm/dd/yy) Date) Vested ⁽²⁾ (#)	Not Vested ⁽³⁾ (\$)	Vested ⁽⁴⁾ (#)	Vested ⁽³⁾ (\$)
R. Andrew Clyde	02/10/15 02/10/16 02/08/17	,	23,950 51,800	70.57 59.11 65.75	02/10/22 02/10/23 02/08/24				

	Edgar Fil	ing: MCD	ERMOT	T INTEI	RNATION	AL INC - F	orm DEF 14	A	
	02/07/18 02/10/16 02/08/17 02/07/18 02/10/16 02/08/17 02/07/18		38,400	71.00	02/07/25	13,250 12,150 9,150 43,725 ⁽⁵⁾	1,015,480 931,176 701,256 3,351,084	48,600 36,600	3,724,704 2,805,024
Mindy K. West	02/10/15 02/10/16 02/08/17 02/07/18 09/06/13 02/10/16 02/08/17 02/07/18 02/10/16 02/08/17 02/07/18	9,700 6,600	6,600 14,300 10,500	70.57 59.11 65.75 71.00	02/10/22 02/10/23 02/08/24 02/07/25	12,333 ⁽⁶⁾ 3,650 3,350 2,500 12,045 ⁽⁵⁾	945,201 279,736 256,744 191,600 923,129	13,400 10,000	1,026,976 766,400
John A. Moore	02/10/15 02/08/17 02/07/18 09/06/13 02/10/16 02/08/17 02/07/18 02/10/16 02/08/17 02/07/18	6,000	3,800 6,900 5,100	70.57 59.11 65.75 71.00	02/10/22 02/10/23 02/08/24 02/07/25	5,051 ⁽⁶⁾ 2,100 1,650 1,200 6,930 ⁽⁵⁾	387,109 160,944 126,456 91,968 531,115	6,600 4,800	505,824 367,872
Terry P. Hatten	06/12/18 06/12/18 06/12/18		4,000	72.80	06/12/25	1,000	76,640	4,000	306,560
Robert J. Chumley	02/08/17 02/07/18		6,700 5,100	65.75 71.00	02/08/24 02/07/25				

02/08/17 02/07/18	1,600 1,200	122,624 91,968		
02/08/17			6,400	490,496
02/07/18			4,800	367,872

- (1) Stock options vest 50 percent on the two-year anniversary of the original grant date with the remaining 50 percent vesting on the three-year anniversary of the original grant date. All options expire seven years after the original grant date.
- (2) RSUs generally vest on the three-year anniversary of the date on which they were originally granted.
- (3) Value was determined based on a December 31, 2018 closing stock price of \$76.64 per share.
- (4) The amounts shown represent the number of outstanding PSUs that remain subject to performance conditions. These numbers represent PSUs that each NEO would receive assuming the performance conditions are achieved at maximum (200 percent). The actual numbers of PSUs earned at the end of the performance period will be based on Company performance. To the extent earned, these outstanding PSUs will cliff-vest on the three-year anniversary of the grant date once results have been certified.
- (5) Reflects the number of PSUs determined to be earned for the performance period ended December 31, 2018, which were vested and settled early in 2019.
- (6) Pension restoration RSUs granted in conjunction with the Spin-Off; will vest on the ten-year anniversary of the grant date.
- 30 MURPHY USA INC.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Executive Compensation (continued)

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2018

The following table summarizes the value received by each NEO from stock option exercises and stock grants that vested during 2018.

	Opt: Number of Sha	ion Awards ares Nur	Stock Awards Number of Shares		
	Acquired on	Value Realized on	Acquired on	Value Realized on	
	Exercise	Exercise ⁽¹⁾	Vesting	Vesting ⁽²⁾	
Name	(#)	(\$)	(#)	(\$)	
R. Andrew Clyde	168,499	7,651,752	41,080	2,911,248	
Mindy K. West	14,300	647,075	50,497	3,958,560	
John A. Moore	3,800	97,280	12,038	917,303	
Terry P. Hatten					
Robert J. Chumley					
Daryl R. Schofield			8,953	599,940	

(1) The value shown reflects the pre-tax gain realized upon the exercise of options, which is the difference between the fair market value on the date of exercise and the exercise price of the options.

(2) The amounts shown in this column reflect the pre-tax gain realized upon vesting of RSUs and PSUs, which is the fair market value of the shares on the date of vesting.

2018 Pension Benefits Table

The following table presents the value of the frozen accrued benefits of the NEOs under the defined benefit portion of the Murphy Oil SERP, liability for which was assumed by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-Off. Murphy Oil remains responsible for all accrued benefits to our NEOs under the tax-qualified Murphy Oil Retirement Plan.

Payments

		Number of Years of	f Present Value of	During Last
		Credited Service	Accumulated Benefi	Fiscal t Year
Name	Plan Name ⁽¹⁾	(#) ⁽²⁾	(\$)	(\$)
R. Andrew Clyde				
Mindy K. West	Murphy USA Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan	17.247	695,927	
John A. Moore	Murphy USA Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan	18.497	380,200	
Terry P. Hatten Robert J.			, 	
Chumley				
Daryl R. Schofield				

(1)Liabilities for benefits accrued for NEOs and other executive employees under the defined contributions portion of the Murphy Oil SERP were transferred to the Murphy USA SERP effective on the date of the Spin-Off and are included in the 2018 Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Table that follows.

(2) The number of years of credited service reflects the frozen number of years of service credited under the Murphy Oil SERP through the date of the Spin-Off.

The accrued benefits presented above are based on a final-average-earning calculation. Frozen final average earnings which could not be included under a tax-qualified retirement plan were as follows: Ms. West \$286,153, and Mr. Moore \$141,236. The following assumptions were used in determining the present value amounts at December 31, 2018:

Discount Rate - 4.56% Mortality Table - RP-2014 projected 20 years Assumed retirement date at age 62 2018 Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Table

The following table includes the value of the accrued benefits of the NEOs under the defined contribution portion of the Murphy Oil SERP, liability for which was assumed by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-Off, as well as the benefits accrued by the NEOs under the Murphy USA SERP from the date of the Spin-Off, through December 31, 2018.

Name	Executive	Registrant	Aggregate	Aggregate	Aggregate
	Contributions	Contributions	Earnings V	Withdrawals	/Balance at
	in Last	in Last	in Last Fisca	Distribution	sLast FYE ⁽²⁾
	Fiscal Year ⁽¹⁾	Fiscal Year ⁽²⁾	Year	(\$)	(\$)

	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	
R. Andrew Clyde	245,875	195,455	(143,173)	2,194,668
Mindy K. West	27,813	74,476	(45,449)	554,875
John A. Moore	6,665	53,690	(18,688)	243,119
Terry P. Hatten				
Robert J. Chumley	19,833	19,645	(4,792)	60,648
Daryl R. Schofield	56,063	7,425	(4,244)	59,244

(1) The executive contributions in the last fiscal year have been included in the Salary column for the NEO in the 2018 Summary Compensation Table.

(2) The registrant contributions in the last fiscal year have been included in the All Other Compensation for the NEO in the 2018 Summary Compensation Table.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Executive Compensation (continued)

Potential Payments Upon Termination or

Termination in Connection with a Change-in-Control

The Company does not have employment, CIC or termination agreements with its NEOs other than with the CEO, which was inherited by Murphy USA in connection with the Spin-Off from prior parent Murphy Oil. However, upon a CIC, as defined in the LTIP, all outstanding equity awards granted under such plan shall vest and become immediately exercisable or payable, or have all restrictions lifted that apply to the type of award. Any performance-based awards will be paid at the target level of performance.

The SPA provides certain severance benefits if Mr. Clyde s employment is terminated within 24 months following a CIC. If his employment is terminated by Murphy USA without cause or by Mr. Clyde for good reason within this 24-month window, Mr. Clyde will be entitled to his earned but unpaid compensation, a lump-sum severance payment equal to three times the sum of his base salary and the average of his last three annual bonuses prior to the termination date (or, if higher, prior to the CIC), accelerated vesting of his outstanding equity-based awards (provided that any performance-based awards

be paid assuming the target level of performance) and continued life, accident and health insurance benefits for 36 months. Mr. Clyde will not be entitled to any golden parachute excise tax gross-up payments. The SPA provides for an excise tax cut back to reduce payments to a level such that the excise tax under Sections 280G and 4999 of the IRC will not apply (unless the executive would receive a greater amount of severance benefits on an after-tax basis without a cutback, in which case the cutback will not apply). Pursuant to the SPA, Mr. Clyde will be subject to a non-disclosure covenant and non-solicitation and non-competition restrictive covenants for 12 months following any such termination.

The Company has no other agreement, contract, plan or arrangement, written or unwritten, that provides for potential payments to any other NEOs upon termination or a CIC, (other than our RSU and PSU agreements that provide for pro-rated vesting upon death, full disability or retirement), with any PSUs eligible to vest remaining subject to actual final performance.

The following table presents estimated amounts that would have been payable to the applicable NEO if the described event had occurred on December 31, 2018, the last trading day of the last fiscal year:

		Qualified Termination		
		Death, Disability		
		with a		
		Change of	or	
		Change of Control	Retirement	
		Control	Kethement	
Name	Category	(\$)	(\$)	Resignation
R. Andrew Clyde	Severance ⁽¹⁾	7,087,605		
	Non-equity compensation ⁽²⁾ Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾	1,677,344	1,677,344	
	Full Value Awards	7,943,736	5,389,555	
	Stock Options	1,200,252		
Mindy K. West	Non-equity compensation ⁽²⁾ Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾	598,560	598,560	
	Full Value Awards	3,129,441	1,987,812	
	Stock Options	330,645		
John A. Moore	Non-equity compensation ⁽²⁾ Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾	346,752	346,752	
	Full Value Awards Stock Options	1,525,213 170,519	1,002,681	
Terry P. Hatten	Non-equity compensation ⁽²⁾ Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾	192,992	192,992	
	Full Value Awards Stock Options	229,920 15,360	48,436	
Robert J. Chumley	Non-equity compensation ⁽²⁾ Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾	344,344	344,344	
	Full Value Awards Stock Options	643,776 101,727	319,359	
Daryl R. Schofield	Severance ⁽⁴⁾			842,505

- (1)Represents three times the sum of base salary, the average of his last three bonus payouts and the cost of Company-provided term life insurance policy. Mr. Clyde does not participate in our health insurance program.
- (2)Non-equity compensation is calculated under the terms of the AIP. Although actual awards, if any, are subject to attaining certain performance-based targets, for purposes of this table, non-equity compensation is calculated based on actual awards earned in 2018.
- (3) In the event of a CIC, all unvested outstanding equity awards shall vest, become immediately exercisable or payable or have all restrictions lifted as may apply to the type of the award. In the event of termination of employment on account of death, disability or retirement, outstanding RSUs and PSUs will vest on a pro-rated basis, based on the period between the grant date and the termination date. This amount reflects the incremental value of the current unvested outstanding RSUs, PSUs

(assuming the target level of performance) and options. In the event of a termination, the exercise period for stock options is reduced to the lesser of the expiration date of the award or two years from date of termination.

(4) The amount disclosed for Mr. Schofield reflects the amount actually paid to him in connection with his separation from the Company. Per the separation agreement included as Exhibit 10.2 to Murphy USA s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 2, 2018, Mr. Schofield was paid \$842,505, including payments received in consideration of a release of claims against the Company and agreement to certain restrictive covenants, of \$262,500 and a lump sum cash payment of \$560,000 for transition and advisory services, \$3,500 for legal fees, and \$16,505

reimbursement for continuing health insurance premiums under COBRA through June 30, 2019. Upon his separation, Mr. Schofield forfeited all outstanding unvested equity awards.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Executive Compensation (continued)

2018 Pay Ratio Disclosure

Pay Ratio

In accordance with the requirements of Section 953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Act and Item 402(u) of Regulation S-K (which we collectively refer to as the Pay Ratio Rule), we are providing the following estimated information for 2018:

the median of the annual total compensation of all of our employees (except our Chief Executive Officer) was \$16,635; our median employee is a part-time store employee;

the annual total compensation of our Chief Executive officer was \$5,919,171; and

the ratio of these two amounts was 356 to 1; we believe that this ratio is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with the requirements of the Pay Ratio Rule.

SEC rules for identifying the median employee and calculating the pay ratio allow companies to apply various methodologies and apply various assumptions and, as result, the pay ratio reported by us may not be comparable to the pay ratio reported by other companies.

Methodology for Identifying Our Median Employee

To identify the median of the annual total compensation of all of our employees (other than our Chief Executive Officer), we first identified our total employee population from which we determined our median employee . We selected our median employee as of December 31,

2018, from our employee population of approximately 9,500 individuals. As a marketer of retail motor fuel products and convenience merchandise through retail stores, over one-half of our employee population on this date was comprised of part-time employees.

To identify our median employee from our total employee population, we compared our employees total cash compensation for 2018 (which included base wages and any additional cash awards). In making this determination, we annualized the compensation of full-time and part-time employees who were hired in 2018 but did not work for us for the entire fiscal year. We identified our median employee using this compensation measure, which was consistently applied to all our employees included in the calculation.

Determination of Annual Total Compensation of Our Median Employee and Our CEO

Once we identified our median employee , we then calculated such employee s annual total compensation for 2018 using the same methodology we used for purposes of determining the annual total compensation of our NEOs for 2018 (as set forth in the 2018 Summary Compensation Table on page 27 of this Proxy Statement).

Our CEO s annual total compensation for 2018 for purposes of the Pay Ratio Rule is equal to the amount reported in the Total column in the 2018 Summary Compensation Table.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Proposal 3 Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for Fiscal 2019

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors have approved the engagement of KPMG LLP as Murphy USA s independent registered public accounting firm for 2019. Representatives of that firm are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting and will have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Ratification of the selection of accountants requires approval by a majority of the votes cast by the stockholders of Murphy USA Common Stock, which votes are cast for or against the ratification. Murphy USA s Board is requesting stockholder ratification as a matter of good corporate practice. If the stockholders do not ratify the selection, the Audit Committee will reconsider whether or not to retain KPMG LLP. Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit Committee in its discretion may change the appointment at any time during the year if it determines that such change would be in the best interests of Murphy USA and its stockholders.

The Audit Committee evaluates the qualifications, performance, and independence of the independent auditor, including the lead partner, on an annual basis (in each case in light of SEC and NYSE independence and other applicable standards then in effect). The Audit Committee ensures the regular rotation of the lead audit partner as required by law and is involved in the selection of the lead audit partner. In addition, the Audit Committee receives periodic reports on the hiring of KPMG LLP partners and other professionals (if hired) to help ensure KPMG LLP satisfies applicable independence rules.

KPMG LLP has served as Murphy USA s independent registered accounting firm since the spin-off in 2013 and prior to that served as the auditor to Murphy USA s former parent for more than 60 years. KPMG LLP reports directly to the Audit Committee of Murphy USA. In selecting KPMG LLP as Murphy USA s independent registered accounting firm for 2019, the Audit Committee considered a number of factors, including:

the quality of its ongoing discussions with KPMG LLP including the professional resolution of accounting and financial reporting matters with its national office,

the professional qualifications of KPMG LLP, the lead audit partner and other key engagement partners,

KPMG LLP s independence program and its processes for maintaining its independence,

KPMG LLP s depth of understanding of Murphy USA s businesses, accounting policies and practices and internal control over financial reporting,

the appropriateness of KPMG LLP s fees for audit and non-audit services (on both an absolute basis and as compared to its peer firms),

consideration of KPMG LLP s known legal risks and significant proceedings that may impair their ability to perform Murphy USA s annual audit,

the most recent PCAOB inspection report on KPMG LLP and the results of peer review and self-review examinations, and

the results of management s and the Audit Committee s annual evaluations of the qualifications, performance and independence of KPMG LLP.

In addition, the Audit Committee periodically considers the appropriateness of a rotation of the independent registered accounting firm. At this time, the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors believe that the continued retention of KPMG LLP as Murphy USA s independent registered public accounting firm is in the best interests of Murphy USA and its stockholders. Under Murphy USA s policy for pre-approval of audit and permitted non-audit services by KPMG LLP, the Audit Committee has delegated the right to pre-approve services between meeting dates to the Chair of the Committee, subject to ratification of the full Committee at the next scheduled meeting. The Committee evaluates all services, including those engagements related to tax and internal control over financial reporting, considering the nature of such services in light of auditor independence, in accordance with the rules of the PCAOB.

FEES PAID TO KPMG LLP

The table below shows the fees paid by Murphy USA to KPMG LLP in 2018 and 2017.

2018	2017
2010	2017

(in thousands) (in thousands)

Fees paid by Murphy USA:		
Audit fees ⁽¹⁾	\$ 1,100	\$ 1,224
Audit-related fees ⁽²⁾	\$	\$
Tax fees	\$	\$
All other fees ⁽³⁾	\$ 2	\$
Total Fees	\$ 1,102	\$ 1,224

(1) Audit fees include fees for the audit of Murphy USA s consolidated financial statements, as well as subsidiary and statutory audits directly related to the performance of the Murphy USA consolidated audit. Audit fees include out-of-pocket expenses of \$105 in 2018 and \$118 in 2017.

(2) Audit-related fees include fees for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by independent accountants such as audits of subsidiary financial statements and the filing of a registration statement with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

(3)

All other fees include payments for market research conducted by advisory resources and an annual subscription fee for access to technical accounting research.

The services provided by KPMG LLP and the fees paid by Murphy USA were authorized and approved by the Audit Committee in compliance with the pre-approval policy and procedures described above. The Audit Committee considers the non-audit services rendered by KPMG LLP during the most recently completed fiscal year in its annual independence evaluation.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Proposal 3 Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for Fiscal 2019 (continued)

If you do not ratify the appointment of KPMG LLP, the Audit Committee will reconsider its appointment. Even if you do ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee retains its discretion to reconsider its appointment if it believes necessary in the best interest of the Company and the stockholders.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE FOR RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF KPMG LLP AS THE COMPANY S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2019.

Submission of Stockholder Proposals

Stockholder proposals for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be received by the Company at its principal executive office on or before November 20, 2019, in order to be considered for inclusion in the proxy materials.

A stockholder may wish to have a nomination or proposal presented at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2020, but the Company is not required to include that proposal in the Company s Proxy Statement and form of proxy relating to that meeting. This type of proposal

is subject to the advance notice provisions and other requirements of the Company s by-laws. In the case of the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, notice must be received by the Company at its principal executive office no earlier than January 1, 2020, and no later than January 31, 2020.

NOTICE OF 2019 ANNUAL MEETING AND PROXY STATEMENT

Electronic Availability of Proxy Materials for

2019 Annual Meeting

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to Be Held on May 1, 2019. This Proxy Statement and Murphy USA s Annual Report to Stockholders and Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2018 are available electronically at http://corporate.murphyusa.com/annual.

In addition, the Company will provide without charge, upon the written request of any stockholder, a copy of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the financial statements and the financial statement schedules, required to be filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2018. Requests should be directed to Murphy USA Inc., Attn: Investor Relations Department, P.O. Box 7300, El Dorado, Arkansas 71731-7300 or to https://www.proxyvote.com.

The Company will also deliver promptly upon written or oral request a separate copy of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K and the Company s Proxy Statement, to any stockholder who shares an address with other stockholders and where only one (1) set of materials were sent to that address to be shared by all stockholders at that address.

Other Information

The management of the Company knows of no business other than that described above that will be presented for consideration at the meeting. If any other business properly comes before the meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the proxies to vote such proxies thereon in accordance with their judgment.

The expense of this solicitation, including cost of preparing and mailing this Proxy Statement, will be paid by the Company. Such expenses may also include the charges and expenses of banks, brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees or fiduciaries for forwarding proxies and proxy material to beneficial owners of shares.

Householding occurs when a single copy of our annual report, proxy statement and Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials is sent to any household at which two or more stockholders reside if they appear to be members of the same family. Although we do not household for registered stockholders, a number of brokerage firms have instituted

householding for shares held in street name. This procedure reduces our printing and mailing costs and fees. Stockholders who participate in householding will continue to receive separate proxy cards, and householding will not affect the mailing of account statements or special notices in any way. If you wish to receive a separate copy of our annual report, proxy statement or Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials than that sent to your household, either this year or in the future, you may contact the Company in the manner provided below and the Company will

promptly send you a separate copy of our annual report, Proxy Statement or Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials. If members of your household receive multiple copies of our annual report, Proxy Statement or Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, you may request householding by contacting the Company in the manner provided below.

Requests in this regard should be addressed to:

Gregory L. Smith

Secretary

Murphy USA Inc.

El Dorado, Arkansas 71730-5836

(870) 875-7600

On March 19, 2019, the Company mailed the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to stockholders. The Notice contains instructions about how to access our proxy materials and vote online or by telephone. If you would like to receive a paper copy of our proxy materials, please follow the instructions included in the Notice.

The above Notice and Proxy Statement are sent by order of the Board of Directors.

Gregory L. Smith

Secretary

El Dorado, Arkansas

March 19, 2019

You are urged to follow the instructions for voting contained in the Notice Regarding Availability of Proxy Materials or,

if you received a paper copy of the Proxy Materials, to date, sign and return your proxy card promptly to make certain your shares will be voted at the Annual Meeting, even if you plan to attend the meeting in person. If you desire to vote your shares in person at the meeting, your proxy may be revoked. If you are receiving a printed copy of the proxy materials, a pre-addressed and postage paid envelope has been enclosed for your convenience in returning the proxy card.

MURPHY USA INC.

ATTN: Connie Vaughn-Dunn

200 PEACH STREET

EL DORADO, AR 71730

VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com

Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information. Vote by 11:59 P.M. ET on 04/30/2019. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF FUTURE PROXY MATERIALS

If you would like to reduce the costs incurred by our company in mailing proxy materials, you can consent to receiving all future proxy statements, proxy cards and annual reports electronically via e-mail or the Internet. To sign up for electronic delivery, please follow the instructions above to vote using the Internet and, when prompted, indicate that you agree to receive or access proxy materials electronically in future years.

VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903

Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions. Vote by 11:59 P.M. ET on 04/30/2019. Have your proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions.

VOTE BY MAIL

Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717.

TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS:

KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS

DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION ONLY

THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED.

The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR the following:	For All	Withhold All	For All Except	To withhold authority to vote for any individual nominee(s), mark For All Except and write the number(s) of the nominee(s) on the line below.
1. Election of Three Class III Directors Whose Current Term Expires on the Date of the Annual Meeting Nominees				
R. Madison Murphy 01) David B. Miller	02) R.	Andrew Cly	rde 03)	

The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR proposals 2 and 3. For Against Abstain

2. Approval of Executive Compensation on an Advisory, Non-Binding Basis

3. Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for Fiscal 2019

NOTE: Such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

For address change/comments, mark here. (see reverse for instructions) Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, or other fiduciary, please give full title as such. Joint owners should each sign personally. All holders must sign. If a corporation or partnership, please sign in full corporate or partnership name by authorized officer.

Signature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX] Date Owners) Signature (Joint

Date

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The Notice & Proxy Statement, Annual Report is/ are available at <u>www.proxyvote.com</u>.

MURPHY USA INC. Annual Meeting of Stockholders May 1, 2019 8:00 AM Central Time This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The stockholder(s) hereby appoint(s) R. Madison Murphy and R. Andrew Clyde, or either of them, as proxies, each with the power to appoint his substitute, and hereby authorizes them to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side of this ballot, all of the shares of Common stock of MURPHY USA INC. that the stockholder(s) is/are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholder(s) to be held at 8:00 AM, Central Time on May 1, 2019, at the South Arkansas Arts Center, 110 East 5th Street, El Dorado, Arkansas, 71730, and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted in accordance with the Board of Directors recommendations.

Address change/comments:

Table of Contents

(If you noted any Address Changes and/or Comments above, please mark corresponding box on the reverse side.)

Continued and to be signed on reverse side